## Living on Campus & Building Community through Social Media

Prepared by:

Brittany Leigh Hurlburt

Submitted to the Faculty of Extension

University of Alberta

In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in Communications and Technology

August 1, 2018

#### Acknowledgments

I would not have been able to complete this body of work without the unwavering support of friends, family, colleagues, and especially my fellow members of the 2016 MACT cohort. I would like to express gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Rob McMahon for his support and guidance, not only as a professor leading me from concepts into applied actions, but also as my academic supervisor, pushing me to produce the best work possible. I would also like to thank the students who took time out of their busy academic schedules to participate in this study—without them the study and findings wouldn't exist at all.

I would also like to express my sincere thanks to Dr. Gordon Gow, and again Dr. Rob McMahon, for allowing me to participate as a Graduate Research Assistant in association with their important work in Technology Stewardship in a Community of Practice in Trinidad and Tobago. The opportunity to be a part of their research, in partnership with the University of Guelph and the University of the West Indies, was invaluable in helping me better understand community informatics, technology stewardship, and ultimately helped me shape my own capstone project. I cannot express my appreciation to you both!

## Disclaimer

The views expressed in this capstone project are those of the author and do not reflect the views of the University of Alberta, the Faculty of Extension, or the Communications and Technology Graduate Program.

#### Abstract

The purpose of my research is to understand whether the use of social media helps upperyear undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta build a sense of community. Existing research on this topic focuses largely on positive "student outcomes" as a result of living on campus, which include things like: higher GPAs; greater access to resources; higher rates of graduation; and the ability to build community and stronger networks. Most of this research focuses on first-year students, and there is a knowledge gap with regards to the experiences of upper-year undergraduates. Through this exploratory study, I wish to learn more about how social media plays a role in the outcome of building community for students living on campus, through the lenses of Uses and Gratifications Theory and the Student Integration Model.

The results of the research will provide value to the existing research in this area of study, especially given that there are few studies that focus on the population of upper-year undergraduates, are based in Canadian institutions, and that focus on technology in relation to community building in this context. Student Affairs professionals will benefit from the results of the study because having a fulsome understanding of the experiences and interests of each "type" of student that lives on campus can only benefit their ability to deliver effective programming, facilitate positive experiences, and learn more about the students that choose to live on campus. The study will contribute to the dense existing research conducted in this area, providing further insights into students' use of social media while living on campus, and whether the use of those media helps them to build community and foster engagement.

*Keywords*: information communication technologies, social media, community building, engagement, higher education, student integration, technology, student satisfaction.

# Table of Contents

Η	Page
Introduction	7
Literature Review Methodology	10
Research Questions & Search Strategy	11
Scoping Search & Protocols	11
Inclusion & Extraction Criteria	12
Theoretical Context	13
Student Integration Model	14
Uses & Gratifications Theory	16
Summary of Literature Review Findings	17
Supporting Theories	17
Higher Education & Student Residence Halls	19
Student Use of ICTs	21
Community Building & Engagement	23
Gaps in Literature	25
Methodology	26
Research Questions & Method	26
Sampling Strategy	29
Data Gathering Strategy	31
Interviews	32
Analysis & Findings	33
Phase 1: Secondary Data Analysis	34

Phase 2: Interview Data	
Coding & Analysis	
Defining Community	
Location & Style of Residence Building	
Events & Programming	55
Creating Connections	
Social Media & Building Community	61
Discussion	
Theoretical Connections	
Limitations	
Conclusion	73
References	
Appendices	

## Introduction

The literature surrounding higher education tells us that students who live on campus in their first year of university are more successful in their academic and personal endeavors. Students who live on campus typically achieve positive "student outcomes" which means that they typically retain higher GPAs, graduate faster, build lifelong networks and community bonds, and have greater access to resources that support them through their transition from high school to university (Astin, 1984 & 1993; Bohr, Desler, Inman, Nora, Pascarella, & Zusman, 1993; Pike, 2002; Pascarella & Terenzini, 1991). Despite these proven advantages, The University of Alberta, among other Canadian institutions, has experienced a slight increase in vacancy in their student housing system (from 2014 through to 2017) by about 3%. This is due largely to a shift in student needs, attitudes, and most importantly, as discussed below, measurable student outcomes in regards to the benefits of living on campus (Hurlburt, 2017). Many higher education institutions rely on these outcomes in order to recruit students to live on campus, and to have report a high level of satisfaction in reference to their on-campus experience.

There are many factors that contribute to a student reporting positive outcomes in regards to living on campus. These factors include things like cost, location, ability to build community, state of the facilities, access to technology, network connections, and much, much more. Each of these factors requires careful attention when one considers the larger picture of persistence through university and positive student outcomes. In this study, I focus on just one of these factors of student satisfaction: community building and engagement as it relates to technology. It is well documented that living on campus can foster an increased sense of community (Cheng, 2004). Today we see communities forming online as people seek to "join groups, voluntary

associations" and gain "social support" (Kiesler, Kraut, and Ren, 2007) in the age of the internet. Although the concept of "community" remains fluid, its importance is often supported by claims of the need for information sharing, emotive and social support systems, companionship, and simply for entertainment, as we seek to understand how to properly and effectively engage users in digital communities. According to a study by Yuquing Ren, Robert Kraut, and Sara Kiesler (2007) on common identity and bond theory, online communities "depend upon the commitment and voluntary participation of their members," and "community design" ultimately affects how people can interact.

Community building in the university residence context reflects these definitions, especially in relation to the construction of social support systems through the use of various types of technologies available to these communities. Given the rapid advancements of technology, one of the ways that students build community is through their use of Information Communication Technologies (ICTs). By ICTs, I'm referring to technologies that "provide access to information through telecommunications" (Christensson, 2010). ICTs focus primarily on communication technologies, which include the internet, networking systems, social media, cell phones, streaming devices, and other communication mediums. Further to the context of my study, I've decided to focus on the use of technology as a potential means for upper-level undergraduate students to build their sense of community while living on campus. Furthermore, student affairs professionals cite that the experiences of students living in these communities, which can include their propensity for adopting different types of technology/ICT (Ausiello & Wells, 1997).

Since there are a variety of complex factors that contribute to positive student outcomes in on-campus housing, the following literature review focuses on my interest in community building and engagement. I summarize some of the theories that support student engagement, ICT use for college students living on campus, and the need for increased community building and engagement. I frame this work in a way that recognizes impacts to persistence and retention in reference to the student-lifecycle as a whole. To do this, I adopt the student lifecycle model developed by Alf Lizzio and Keithia Wilson (2010), which outlines five aspects of student success. The lifecycle model suggests that successful transition into university is predicted by "five core aspects: capability, purpose, resourcefulness, connectedness and culture" (p. 1). A lens of recruitment (see Figure 1 below) can be applied to the student lifecycle which includes the recruitment of prospective students, their acceptance, persistence to graduation, graduation, and finally their alumni status (Higher Education, 2007). In an article published in "Studies in Higher Education" author Paula Wilcox et al. (2006) explores the role of social support in the context of retention for students attending university. She says that, "equal emphasis needs to be placed on successful integration into the social world of the university as into the academic world" (p. 707), which directly relates to the concept of community building in my study. Based on the Student Integration Model a students' "sense of connectedness" needs to take place in order for them to persist to graduation, and my study hopes to discover how upper-year undergraduates are developing this sense of belonging, and whether technology is facilitating those connections as well. There is research that supports these findings related to social integration for first year students, illustrated in Wilcox's study for example, however there is little research in this regard for upper-year undergraduates.



Figure 1: Student lifecycle model with years of study

## Literature Review Methodology

A thorough literature review is one that methodically examines the current literature to determine validity, relevance, and value. There is no need to duplicate work if the question has already been posed elsewhere, and there is little value in asking a question that doesn't have relevance on a larger scale (Oliver, 2012). In the following literature review, I explore primary research data, conduct an exhaustive search for topical discussions on the issue, and present my summarized findings of a review of academic and professional journals, edited research books, and grey literature. The literature cogitates technological advances and student engagement as it

relates to: community building, student engagement and the facilitation of student learning with technology in an on-campus setting.

#### **Research Questions & Search Strategy**

The current literature in this area of study focuses very much on student satisfaction and the on-campus living experience, as measured through quantitative research and statistical analysis; however, the focus is largely on first-year students, and their experiences of satisfaction, academic performance, and retention. This study addresses a gap in the research regarding student (specifically, the population of upper-year undergrads) use of ICTs while living on campus. It also contributes qualitative data to an existing body of research that is almost exclusively quantitative.

Originally, the purpose of my research was to better understand how upper-year undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta use ICTs to connect with their peers and administration. Considering the definition of ICTs is extremely broad, and because I did not want to over-determine the outcomes of this study, I did not narrow the focus of exactly which ICTs I would focus on. For example, upper-year undergraduates may use text messaging as a primary way to build community, or they might have a propensity for online chat rooms, live-stream gaming environments, and more. Before conducting my qualitative research, I decided to survey the sample population of upper-level undergraduates about this question. This pre-interview questionnaire indicated that the primary ICT that the respondents, 9 upperyear undergraduates living on East Campus, are engaging with while living on campus is social media. This result framed the study going forward, as I narrowed by focus from the broad spectrum of ICTs, to social media.

Given these preliminary considerations, I decided to ask the following research questions (RQs):

**RQ1:** How are upper-year undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta using social media?

**RQ2:** Does the use of social media while living on campus facilitate student outcomes related to community building and engagement?

My search strategy began with gathering articles from journals on the student experience living on campus, mostly from institutions in the North America. There are many published works dating back to the 1970s that use quantitative data to support findings that living on campus leads to increased student satisfaction. These journal articles provide the foundation for my research question, in that they inform the connection between student outcomes and living on campus, which is a premise of the research. Furthermore, student use of ICTs on campus is considered a contributing factor to positive student outcomes. I then searched for articles that were focused on the models and theories used to support my research questions: the Student Integration Model and Uses and Gratifications Theory. From there, I searched specifically for topical information on the student experience, measures of satisfaction with living on campus, how technology relates to this experience, and finally, how we can effectively facilitate ICT use and students' connection to campus and their communities.

#### **Scoping Search & Search Protocols**

In order to effectively organize my findings, I conducted a scoping search that lead me to my primary sources, and searched specific databases in order to analyze the relevant literature.

The primary databases I searched to conduct the literature review were: (a) Information and Communication Technologies, (b) Academic Search Complete, (c) Communication & Mass Media Complete, (d) Science Direct, (e) Education, and (f) Google Scholar. The secondary databases that I included were: (g) ERIC, (h) ProQuest Education Database, and (i) CBCA Education. I then created a spreadsheet that organized the sources into the following categories: Theory, Higher Education & Residence Halls, Students & ICTs, and Community Building & Engagement. The search terms I used to search for relevant literature in these databases included:

- Information Communication Technologies on campus: ICT use by students living on campus, ICTs in higher education, ICTs on campus, digital media and students in higher education, and ICTs and the student experience.
- Measures of student satisfaction: student satisfaction living on campus, living on campus and retention, student needs living on campus, and student outcomes and living on campus.
- Measures of student engagement living in residence: student engagement on campus, residence programming, social networking systems on campus, residence halls and student integration.
- **Technology and engagement on campus:** technology and students in higher education, building community with technology on campus, and technology and the student experience.
- **Community building and engagement:** building community on campus, community engagement and students living in residence halls, and residence halls and community engagement.

- **Student Integration Model:** student integration and retention, student integration on campus, student integration and technology, student integration and student outcomes, and social networking and the student integration model.
- Uses & Gratifications Theory: students and technology on campus, technology and gratification in higher education, uses and gratifications on campus, social networking and uses and gratifications theory.

By searching for relevant literature through these protocols, my research questions began to transform as I realized I needed to complete several important tasks as the literature review developed, including: clearly defining "Information Communication Technologies" to narrow the scope, focusing on how ICTs can facilitate the student outcome of community building and engagement, and restricting my sources to those dated after 1990 to be statistically relevant. I only allowed sources dated before 1990 to be theoretically based or focused within higher education as a foundation for the research. As my RQs began to become more focused, I was able to determine a value matrix to organize my sources based on specific inclusion and extraction criteria.

## **Inclusion & Extraction Criteria**

In order to measure relevance to my RQs, the following value matrix was assigned to each source. This approach helped me to eliminate 25 articles that were not relevant to a systematic review for my capstone. I created the criteria to evaluate each source and assigned it a score; the value scale was also color coded for visual ease of review.

Value Matrix	
	8, 9, 10 out of 10: Highly valuable
	<ul> <li>Highly relevant: publication date 2010 or later, topical value criteria includes (1) ICTs, (2) theoretical framework, and (3) community engagement practices.</li> <li>High author status, well-known journal/publisher.</li> <li>Study conducted in university residence.</li> <li>Measures student outcomes.</li> </ul>
	5, 6, 7 out of 10: Moderately valuable
	<ul> <li>Moderately relevant: publication date 2000 or later, includes at least one of three topical values noted above.</li> <li>Moderate author status, moderately known journal/publisher.</li> <li>Study conducted in community that includes students.</li> </ul>
	1, 2, 3, 4 out of 10: Not valuable
	<ul> <li>Not relevant: publication date before 1990, includes no topical values noted above.</li> <li>Disproven research, weak RQ or data sets, no peer reviews.</li> <li>Low author/publisher status.</li> <li>Does not include concepts involving student outcomes or community engagement.</li> </ul>

Table 1: Literature Review Value Matrix

## **Theoretical Context**

There are two important theories that underscore my research: the Student Integration Model, and Uses and Gratifications Theory. There is a breadth of research (Astin, 1984; Thomas, 2000; Tinto, 1993) that explores student retention, integration, and persistence to graduation in higher education. The authors assert that the factors related to persistence in college include: pre-

entry characteristics, institutional characteristics, academic integration, and social integration. The connection to my research is based within social integration practices, and the relationship between the structural competencies/characteristics of Student Affairs offices and how they impact student engagement and integration. Ultimately, social networking and social relations have direct and indirect influences on student outcomes and integration—a relationship which serves as a foundation for the premise of my research.

Uses and Gratifications Theory provides a framework of understanding the human motivations to engage with social networking sites, the internet, and ICTs generally, especially as it relates to community engagement and building social ties. This classic communications perspective serves an important role in grounding my RQs, and providing context for the purposeful sample population that I will be studying, considering college students are among the highest users of technology today (Jones, 2002).

#### **Student Integration Model**

When applied for choices around residence housing, the student integration model theorizes that "successful [student] integration" will enhance student satisfaction and experiences, which will influence their intentions to 'persist' to live on any given university campus (Tinto, 1993). The model provides a framework for understanding the congruent relationship between the needs and values of the institution and the needs and values of the students, and in the context of my study, how that relationship is impacted by ICTs in terms of building a sense of community. The area of focus for my study in relation to the student integration model is the aspect of the "social system" in Tinto's Student Integration Model. Outlined in the figure below, community-building, assessed alongside ICT use, would be defined by a students' external interactions (outside of

academics), peer group interactions, and extra-curricular activities, leading to social integration (Tinto, 1993).



Student persistence in higher education

Figure 2: Tinto's Student Integration Model with a community-building focus area highlighted for the purposes of this study

In *"The Ties that Bind,"* Scott Thomas (2000) also adapts Tinto's Student Integration Model, by outlining how social networking systems impact social ties and bonds (communitybuilding) with students participating in higher education environments. This research lays important groundwork for "understanding student integration...and the role of social interactions in the persistence and attrition process," (p.21) which is directly related to my research question. My research examines social media use among students living in residence at the University of

Alberta as it relates to community building, and applies the Student Integration Model to assist with understanding of the differential effects of social network characteristics on student persistence in living on campus. Meaning that the impact of social media technology on students' ability to build community will vary depending on the needs of the community and the level of dependency on these various technology platforms/applications.

#### **Uses & Gratifications Theory**

According to Thomas Ruggiero, in an article published in the journal of "*Mass Communication & Society*" in 2000, "...the emergence of computer-mediated communication has revived the significance of uses and gratifications. In fact, uses and gratifications has always provided a cutting-edge theoretical approach in the initial stages of each new mass communications medium: newspapers, radio and television, and now the internet" (p. 17). Uses and Gratifications theory can help us understand not only media and technology adoptions among specific populations, but also can help us measure levels of fulfillment as it relates to qualitative inquiry (Ruggiero, 2000). His article states that researchers must explore the social and "qualitative aspects" of mediated communication in a more holistic methodology, which my study posits.

Uses and Gratifications applies to my research questions because according to a survey of college students distributed by the Higher Education Research Institute, 94% use technology in their daily lives (Higher Education, 2007). The pervasiveness of new media and technology has impacted the way that we communicate, both in person and online, on an almost incomprehensible level. The foundations of this theory will guide my research by helping to define the social and psychological variables that contribute to various patterns of consumption of gratifications (Wimmer & Dominick, 1994), which will help inform the overall research

design. For example, Uses and Gratifications theory outlines how "dependency is high when an individual's goal satisfaction relies on information from the media system" (Ruggeiro, 2000), which is an important piece to understanding why students in residence are interacting with certain ICTs over others. As noted earlier, students indicated that certain social media facilitated their ability to build a sense of community, thus increasing their dependence on that media. In an effort to measure this dependency as it related to Uses and Gratifications theory, students were also asked which social media they could "do without" versus the ones that they "need" in order to create lasting networks and connections with their peers while living on campus. Uses and Gratifications Theory will also help guide the analysis of the research findings, so that we can understand *why* students engage with certain social media platforms, and what they perceive to gain from it.

#### **Summary of Literature Review Findings**

As noted in the introduction, the current literature regarding the student experience with living on campus is primarily quantitative and focuses on measurable satisfaction data of positive student outcomes. What the literature review reveals in relation to my research questions is that there is a definite relationship between living on campus and student satisfaction, student integration practices and student engagement with ICTs, and community building and engagement is indeed a positive student outcome. There are four sections that demonstrated these connections through the literature review, and they are: Supporting Theories; Higher Education & Student Residence Halls; Student Use of ICTs; and Community Building & Engagement.

### **Supporting Theories**

Many of the studies that focus on measuring positive student outcomes discussed earlier in this paper indicate that students report higher levels of satisfaction when they have access to a

high-speed internet connection. Use and Gratifications theory contributes to explaining how "high speed internet connection" ranks as a top factor of student satisfaction living in residence (Li et al., 2005), and outlines the motivations of technological dependence and gratifications. The Student Integration Model, as discussed, provides a comprehensive framework for understanding positive student outcomes related to integration, engagement, and the impacts that social integration has on the college student experience. Some articles in the review contribute to simply understanding these two theories (Blumler, 1979; Chatman, 1991; Whiting, & Williams, 2013), but others are directly connected to college student use of ICTs, higher education, the residence hall environment, and community building and engagement (Chen, 2011; Matthews & Schrum, 2003; Quan-Haase, 2008; Skinner, 2009; Thomas, 2000; Vaterlaus, 2017 ).

The most important articles for my RQs, are the ones that demonstrated a correlation between Uses and Gratifications Theory or the Student Integration Model, and community building through ICTs with college students. Some studies focused on particular ICTs (Twitter, Yik Yak, Facebook, etc.) and drew conclusions on how the use of ICTs, underscored by the theories, impacted community involvement and engagement for students living on campus. For example, in *"Instant Messaging on Campus: Use and Integration in University Students" Everyday Communication,* " author Anabel Quan-Haase (2008) outlines how researchers have begun exploring how university students "use IM and how it is integrated into their social and academic life" (p. 105). Of the 268 Canadian university students surveyed, 97% reported using instant messaging technologies on campus (Quan-Haase, 2007). Quan-Haase also discusses the "connectivity movement" and how an emergent spectrum of ICTs support community development and drive social ties in university residence communities. This data would assist any higher education or student affairs staff member understand the positive and negative factors

that contribute to residence hall retention as it relates to integration of ICTs. This type of research is the foundation for my research project, because it not only outlines the benefits of living on-campus, but it provides an "enhanced ability to understand the significance of various predictors of student residential choices" (Li et al., 2005). Most importantly, the study reveals that the number one predictor for *both* student retention and exodus of residents is the level of satisfaction with access to services (which includes a high-speed internet connection). Further to that, the results emphasize the need to provide strong ICT services to students. The research proves that a satisfying residence experience will attract prospective residents, but in the same vein, a poor experience will result in attrition.

#### **Higher Education & Student Residence Halls**

The research in this category (Blimling, 2015; Cavins & Johnson, 1996; Cullum, 2007; Foubert, Morrison, & Tepper, 1998; Hill, 2004; Junco & Chickering, 2010; Li et al., 2005; Matthews & Schrum, 2003; Murrell & Denzine, 1998; Pike, 1999; Schroeder & Mable, 1994) focuses on the "educational potential" and "developing community" of residence halls. It calls on a body of research that supports the positive relationship between campus residence and rates of student outcomes, including: perseverance, graduation, academic success, community engagement and network building, and more. The findings combine the documented success of faculty involvement programs, first-year programs, theme housing programs, residential college programs, and living-learning centers—as they all contribute heavily to retention rates in university (Cavins & Johnson, 1996). The researchers also summarize how student affairs professionals might respond to challenges facing student-housing practices, and how these professionals can promote increasing positive student outcomes. The articles from this section of the literature review are very important, because the environment in which my purposeful sample

is being drawn from is the university residence community, and the particular outcome that my research focuses on is community building and its correlation with student use of ICTs.

The strategies in these articles are important because they not only capture various contributors to student satisfaction, but also include influences on the undergraduate experience overall, including the use of ICTs, which are a focus of my RQs. The authors delve into the importance of offering creative living and learning experiences that extend beyond the first year of the college experience, and highlight the importance of Student Affairs staff and faculty involvement. Much of the literature quotes Schroeder, Mable, & Associates (1994) in an effort to describe the current challenges within higher education. For example, Calvins & Johnson (1996) state that,

"As colleges and universities across the country are being challenged by economic agendas, shifting demographics, increasingly diverse student populations, public demand for quality and accountability, and faculty concerns about the widening gap between ideal academic standards and actual student learning, residence halls have an opportunity to shape the transformation of higher education" (p. 73).

There is purposeful insight into the importance of creating an engaging student experience outside the classroom from the contents of these articles and studies. Additionally, the results, discussion, and analyses of the research in higher education and residence halls impacts my research question because of the demonstration of student outcomes as a continuum, wherein the authors summarize the need for change in residence services program offerings and facilities, in order to support positive student outcomes. This continuum represents a year-to-year change in the needs of students as it relates to their experience on campus, and if we are measuring the positive outcomes, we need to continue to assess what those needs are over time.

Several important sources also delve into the social responsibility and accountability that student affairs professionals face regarding leveraging technology in "educationally relevant" ways. The authors continue to discuss promoting civil discourse in the age of emergent technology, while balancing student development, learning, and social engagement. The contents of these articles are directly related to my research topic, as I aim to understand ICT use among upper-year undergrads living on campus at the University of Alberta.

#### **Student Use of ICTs**

The research in this category (Anderson, 2001; Ausiello & Wells, 1997; Chen, DeAndrea et al., 2012; Engstrom, 1997; Gatz & Hirt, 2000; Gemmil & Peterson, 2006; Heiberger & Harper, 2008; Junco & Chickering, 2010; Kvavik, 2004; Ratliff, 2011; Vaterlaus, 2017) focuses on the pervasiveness of technology and how it impacts student outcomes, the work of Student Affairs, and the overall impacts on higher education. Moneta (2005), for example, explores how student use of technology has changed the expectations of student affairs, what the resource implications (financial, human, and technological) associated with technology are, and what distinctive technological applications are influencing the work of Student Affairs. General results from several authors indicate that Student Affairs professionals need to provide direct human services support to students, while simultaneously recognizing that these supports have been derived from the increased ICT use among college students.

Many articles focus on ICT use among college students, especially as a means to understand whether the use of these technologies is in response to social pressures, preference, or if they support community building and engagement. In a study published by the Higher Education Research Institute (2007), college freshmen are surveyed regarding their use of social networking sites. The results of the survey help to correlate time spent on social networks and

student time-management skills. The data from this study is important in outlining the need to focus on emergent technologies as it relates to the residence experience. On that vein, in *"Connecting on Campus with New Media: Introduction to Higher Education Administration with Social Media,"* authors Wankel & Wankel (2011) explore how "social media initiatives and activity are transforming the very nature of collegiate life." This article, and ones similar, underscore the importance of leveraging new forms of technology to communicate with students, while simultaneously furthering the "achievement of institutional goals and student outcomes." This is highly relevant, as my research will provide insight into student needs and attitudes as it relates to their ICT use while living on campus.

In "Information Technology and Student Affairs: Planning for the Twenty-First Century" authors Ausiello and Wells (1997) discuss "a new vision for practice that incorporates emerging technology (p.71) and addresses the questions what the role of Student Affairs staff will be in regards to the student experience and technology. The authors explore how Student Affairs staff can encourage community members to become familiar with and embrace ICTs, given that it is integral to the social systems being built by their students.

Most importantly, the studies in this area outline the importance of ICT use among college students, how the use of those technologies can impact them dramatically (both positively through engagement practices and negatively through dependence and access issues), and the role ICTs play as a facilitation tool for social support in the college on campus living environment. For example, in *"Internet Use Among College Students: An Exploratory Study"* by K. Anderson (2001), 1,300 college students at 8 American institutions were surveyed in reference to how the internet has "affected their social or academic lives." The study was designed as an introductory investigation into internet usage among college students, driven by

students reporting concerning symptoms (depressed mood, high degree of sleep variance, poor academics, and conflicts) in an effort to identify contributors to the symptoms. The study reviews the current research on the positive and negative effects associated with internet usage, particularly for college students and the "commonality of developmental issues." Conclusions show that the problem of "internet dependence is real" and that student affairs professionals need to be more aware of excessive internet use among college students (Anderson, 2001). As just one example, the perspectives in this study are important to my RQs because the internet dramatically affects the ICTs addressed in my research, and the sample population is in line with the research as well. ICT use and face-to-face interactions are represented as a continuum over time, shaping how students engage, connect, and build community.

#### **Community Building & Engagement**

During the literature review, there were many articles (Aber et al., 2013; Astin, 1993; Brown-Leonard et al., 2007; Cavins & Johnson, 1996; Cullum, 2007; Kanoy et al., 1996; Kuh & Zao, 2004; Kruger, 2000; Ried et al., 2014; Pike, 1991; Wankel & Blessinger, 2003) that contained crossover between the themes demonstrated in community building and engagement, ICT use among students in college, and the residence hall environment. Building strong community ties became the linchpin connecting all sections of the literature review and my RQs. The theories supplied the framework for the topic, the research in higher education and residence hall living demonstrated the importance of student outcomes, ICT use among students became a clear predictor of positive student outcomes, and community building and engagement revealed itself as the primary focus tying all of subjects together. The literature demonstrates a continuum of cogitating technological advances and student engagement as it relates to: community

building, student engagement, and the facilitation of student learning with technology in an oncampus setting.

In one particular study for example, 344 undergraduate participants, half living in a residence hall containing a living-learning community (LLC) and half that did not, completed demographic survey followed by a "sense of belonging subscale" developed from the Perceived Cohesion Scale (Bollen & Hoyle, 1990). Data was analyzed by measuring students "perceptions of sense of community in residence, activities that foster sense of community in residence, meanings attributed to LLCs, and sense of belonging on campus" (p. 226). Results indicated that the study adds to the current literature on undergraduates' sense of community when comparing living on campus to studying on campus (Aber et al., 2013). The information in this study is integral to the foundation that supports my RQ—that students' cohorts or communities fundamentally enhance student outcomes. The study concludes that Student Affairs professionals should focus on programming that encourages informal peer interactions and opportunities for students to convene. My RQ addresses whether technology has a role to play in these opportunities, and whether it aligns with student perceptions on the subject.

Many of the studies reviewed demonstrate how student college life contributes to their perception of campus community. This concept is incredibly important to my RQ because it discusses the fundamental attitudes that students have towards campus community, which is a measurable student outcome assessed for students living in residence (connection to campus/community). Findings from the study "*Students' Sense of Campus Community: What it Means, and What to do About It*" by Cheng (2004) indicate that students' sense of community was associated with feelings of "being cared for, valued as an individual, and accepted as part of a community" (p. 218) The discussions in this study point to sociality and the strength of ties

between community members, which underscores my RQ, as I aim to learn whether ICTs can facilitate these network connections. One of the main composite variables, assessed on a 4-point Likert Scale in this study was "Residential Experience" which provided important insight into my RQs, given that "students' residential experience proves to be critical in influencing their sense of campus community, positively or negatively" (p. 224) Community building and engagement as a theme began to permeate as the strongest linkage between all of the themes during the literature review.

#### **Gaps in Literature**

Gaps in the literature, as they relate to my research questions, are that the articles are primarily quantitative studies on predictors of student satisfaction for undergraduates living in residence, and that there is little independent research done on each individual student outcome. For example, there is a significant amount of research that assesses student satisfaction, but there is little research on each of the factors that make up the student experience, whether it is assessing cost versus community, facility satisfaction versus location, etc. There's also a primary focus on the role of ICTs as it relates to communication patterns, but not specifically on how those patterns of use facilitate the student outcome of community building, and how ICTs relate to academic performance, as opposed to the residence community experience. There were also several limitations in relation to this literature review, including the literature that focuses on ICTs being disruptive and as adding stress to the student experience. These concepts are sometimes explored in the literature that I reviewed; however they are not a driving focus.

Through the stages of the literature review, I completed several important tasks that relate to my Capstone research design:

- Changed the sample population. Much of the literature already focuses on firstyear students, and I want to learn more about upper-year undergraduates and their habits, as it is under-researched and shows a gap in the literature.
- Changed the RQs. Over the course of many months, the focus of my RQs shifted from a general concern on retention practices and vacancy rates, to a focus on one specific student outcome (social media facilitating community building and engagement). This revised focus lends itself neatly to the scope of the capstone and its limitations.
- Reduced Data Gathering Strategy. Originally, I intended to sample a larger student population, and was going to conduct in-person interviews and focus groups. I decided to only conduct in-person semi-structured interviews, as a direct outcome of my adjusted scope of the research topic.

## Methodology

#### **Research Questions & Method**

As noted, the current literature in this area of study focuses very much on student satisfaction and their on-campus living experience, as measured through quantitative research and statistical analysis. However, the focus of this research is largely on first-year students, and their satisfaction, academic performance, and retention. My research focuses on another population: upper-year undergraduate students. The purpose of my research is to understand whether the use of social media helps upper-year undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta build community. This addresses a gap in the research regarding the use of social media by these students while living on campus. As well, my research contributes

qualitative data to a body of existing research that is primarily quantitative. We already know that college students are among the highest users of the internet, and that they are engaging with various ICTs on a daily basis. One study from the United States found that 90% of college students aged 18-25 are using social media on a daily basis while in university, and 68% of those students report using social media between 1 and 6 hours per day (Vaterlaus, Jones, Patten & Cook, 2015). In this context, my research seeks to understand whether this type of engagement is helping students build community —which can be a factor of retention, ultimately building on the student lifecycle of living on campus. First-year undergraduate students typically build community in residence, but this tapers off for upper-level undergraduates, as their areas of focus shift (Cavins & Johnson, 1996). In this context, where upper-level undergraduates may not have the same face-to-face opportunities to build and sustain community, social media may help.

For clarity, my research questions (RQs) are:

**RQ1:** How are upper-year undergraduate students **living on campus** at the University of Alberta using social media?

**RQ2:** Does the use of social media while living on campus facilitate student outcomes related to community building and engagement?

#### Research Method

As discussed, much of the research surrounding student affairs in higher education focuses on quantitative methods and analysis. Given the scope of the Capstone, and in reference to the gap that my research question is trying to fill, qualitative description will serve as the most appropriate research method for my proposed project. According to Margarete Sandelowski in

her article "Whatever Happened to Qualitative Description" published in the Journal of Research in Nursing and Health, she notes that "...qualitative descriptive study is the method of choice when straight descriptions of phenomena are desired" and that qualitative description is "especially amenable to obtaining straight and largely unadorned (i.e.: minimally theorized or otherwise transformed or spun) answers to questions of special relevance to practitioners and policy makers" (p. 334).

The relevance of my research is that it helps us to learn more about a specific target populations' needs, specifically as to how these needs relates to the challenge of retention in residence, and of the ability of upper-year undergraduates to build purposeful communities at the University of Alberta. We can make assumptions about the social media usage of students that live in residence in relation to their experience living on campus, or we can use the proposed research questions to analyze what the true activities of the population are, in order to enhance their experience living on campus. What other factors may contribute to upper-year undergraduates' ability to build community? Does social media play the role we assume it plays, or are there specific reasons this population elects to use specific platforms to build their networks?

Most of the research in this area of study is focuses on the needs of first-year students as they complete the transition from high school to university. But when we look at the student lifecycle as a whole, upper-year undergraduates make up a large number of residents living on campus at the University of Alberta. We do not know enough about this population's experience with technology and in building a strong sense of community. The more that we can understand and isolate populations within the student life-cycle, the better we can provide them with the resources and services that they need to succeed throughout their post-secondary education.

Along with research on social media adoption and use among this under-studied population, analysis through qualitative description will assist Student Affairs professionals at the University of Alberta in developing a more comprehensive understanding of one of their largest client groups. As applied research, I hope that this project will support purposeful programming, enhanced information sharing and communication strategies, and ultimately contribute to efforts to increase student retention in residence.

#### Sampling Strategy

The population for my research project was purposefully sampled from students in the residence system at the University of Alberta. There are approximately 4,500 students that live on campus throughout any given academic term, and approximately 2,000 of those students live on East Campus, which is designated mostly for upper-year undergraduates and graduate students. The students that live in these buildings are described by Residence Services at the University of Alberta as mature, independent, and academically focused. The community itself has less of an "institutional" feel; it mimics mature neighborhoods in the surrounding area. The style of residences in this area are mostly walk-up apartment/townhouse style, with configurations ranging from studio apartments, to one, two, and four bedroom units, with shared common spaces and kitchen facilities. Students can choose from a range of options, all within steps of campus, that are more aligned with an independent living style.

Comparatively, the closest residence in size to the ones that make up East Campus is a large complex on North Campus, called Lister Residence. It typically houses anywhere from 1,800 to 2,000 students, mostly in their first year of study. This building is dormitory style, complete with a mandatory meal plan, to assist students in their often-challenging transition from high school to university. All students who live in residence receive targeted programming from their

Residence Life team, which supports their specific needs during their academic journey at the University of Alberta. Students on East Campus are typically supported academically, rather than with a social focus, given the phase of life that these students are generally in. Comparatively, first year students receive programming that will support them in living away from home for the first time, with a large focus on building personal networks and building community.

It would not be beneficial to attempt to conduct my research on the entire residence population (nor the entire population that resides in East Campus), because it would take an unacceptable amount of time to reach saturation in regards to the data that I will be collecting. Purposeful samples "intentionally focus on the target group to the exclusion of other groups" (Smith, 1988), and cannot be used for generalizations. Generalizations about research populations are typical for quantitative research and are not practical for qualitative research. Therefore I have decided to conduct an exploratory study, which may inform larger-scale studies, such as quantitative surveys across this population. Given the limitations of the Capstone, this study is exploratory in nature to learn more about a specific population, their use of social media, and whether the use of that media impacts their ability to build community and foster their personal networks. The study will provide a rich understanding of this population's social media use, in the specific condition of living on campus, which will provide useful context for studies in this research area going forward.

For this study I sampled 9 residents in East Campus from houses that contain upper-year undergraduate students. Each of these residences contains male and female residents, aged ~18-35, with various origins, ethnicities, and are enrolled in a variety of academic programs. The aim of qualitative research is to describe the specific characteristics of a phenomenon, which is what my research question posits. In theory, this study could be replicated in the future to focus on

other populations, like international students, graduate students, pre-professional students, or any other niche group that requires more attention in terms of defining how these groups build effective communities.

#### Data Gathering Strategy

In order to collect data about my purposeful sample population in relation to my research question, I conducted semi-structured (focuses on participant understanding of experiences) face-to-face interviews. The University of Alberta already uses a longitudal survey-benchmarking tool called Skyfactor (formerly Educational Benchmarking Inc.) that is distributed to all residents, across all facilities on an annual basis. I analyzed the data collected in 2016/17 and 2017/18 through that survey to serve as background. In that survey, residents are asked 3-4 questions in reference to building community in residence, and 1-2 questions regarding the provision of internet services, which would classify as a technology-based question. I parsed the data to only include answers from my sample population, to provide a basis for my research questions, and also to demonstrate the need to build on this data with qualitative research, and ask more questions about the specific outcome of "community building." Therefore, analyzing this secondary data was completed as "Phase 1" of my research, and conducting the in-person, semi-structured interviews was "Phase 2."

To recruit participants for Phase 2, I invited them to participate through an existing Residence Newsletter, which is distributed via a bi-weekly email listserv. Students on East Campus typically have leases from September to April of an academic year, and receive the newsletter throughout the semester informing them of campus events, activities, resources available, etc. The strategy was executed to invite upper-year undergrads to participate in the research via the listserv, which I received permission to use from Residence Services as part of

an "Information Sharing Agreement" (see Appendix B), over a number of weeks until I was able to recruit and secure enough participants. Students received information about the study and were invited to complete a short pre-interview questionnaire that outlined the process and confirmed their participation. The students also provided some basic demographic information and some insight into their current social media habits (see Appendix C for a copy of the preinterview questionnaire).

This population can be difficult to engage with, especially in the Winter Term, due to a variety of factors. Students are survey fatigued at this time, are preparing for exams, and are moving out of residence immediately after their exam period is complete. Participation was incentivized because of these factors, whereby participants received a \$10 Starbucks gift card as a thank-you for their time and participation in the study i.e.: filling out the pre-interview questionnaire and completing the in-person interview. I was able to secure 9 participants through this process, and 7 met my criteria for final data analysis.

#### Interviews

Face-to-face interviews were conducted for the purposes of this study. This was done in order to build trust with my participants in an informal setting. Additionally, face-to-face interviews are also an appropriate method for qualitative research. My position in Ancillary Services at the University of Alberta provides me with access to the sample population; however, I am cognizant that the power-dynamic may impact the data. "Sometimes, face to face interviews can foster apprehension in participants, especially if a researcher asks to enter a participant's home" (Merrigan et al., 2012). This is why I conducted the interviews in public areas or student common areas and/or lounges. I wanted the participants to feel comfortable in answering the

questions designed for the face-to-face interviews, so that the data collected "are less likely to foster artificial effects" (Merrigan et al., 2012).

The interviews contained a mixture of open-ended, closed-format, and contingency questions, with careful consideration to not include leading questions. Conducting face-to-face interviews can be costly in terms of labor and time, depending on how they are designed and delivered, and this was considered during the planning phase, especially in reference to potential ethical conflicts between the participants and myself. Copies of the interview questions are available to view in Appendix D.

### **Analysis & Findings**

After receiving approval from the University of Alberta's Research Ethics Office, students were recruited to participate in the study by the process listed above, and a total of 9 students were interviewed. All 9 participants were recruited digitally via the Residence Services email listserv, and all 9 participants completed a pre-interview questionnaire through a Google form. 2 interviews were removed from the data set after it was revealed during the interview process that they did not meet the criteria for participation. These two students, respectively, are graduate students living on East Campus at the University of Alberta, but indicated that they were in their "second year" on the pre-interview questionnaire. These students interpreted the question to be a reflection of their current studies, as they are in the second year of their graduate studies; however, the study explicitly stated that the purposeful sample population of this study is upper-year undergraduates (Appendix C). The data from the 2 graduate interviews were still recorded and transcribed, but were not included in the final analysis of the data.

## Phase 1: Secondary Data Analysis

As part of background research for this study, I obtained permission to access data from the University of Alberta's Residence Satisfaction & Learning Survey, which is administered annually by Skyfactor (formerly Educational Benchmarking Inc.), an assessment and benchmarking service for higher education. As mentioned in the data gathering strategy, this survey is administered to all students living on campus at the University of Alberta and in 2017/18 had 1585 responses, with approximately 44% coming from upper-year undergraduates in East Campus (Campus Labs, 2018). The survey asks institutional specific questions, and also provides cross-institutional comparisons on specific factors that make up "student satisfaction" (Skyfactor, 2018). The survey assesses student outcomes on an annual basis, and provides Student Affairs professionals at the University of Alberta a comprehensive report that demonstrates areas of focus: where students are succeeding; where they could use improvement; and facilities that require focus for future development. The survey also demonstrates how the University of Alberta compares to other institutions across North America, in reference to positive student outcomes like higher GPAs, satisfaction with dining services, their ability to build community, measured success of cohort communities, and more.

The survey asks many questions, but for the purposes of this study, I isolated the responses from upper-year undergraduates on a set of specific questions that lend background to this study and my research questions. Considering I want to understand how students living on campus at the University of Alberta are using social media to build community, I isolated the questions in the satisfaction survey that focus on the concept of community building, and any technology-related questions. Through an Information Sharing Agreement (Appendix B), I received data from the 2016/17 report and the 2017/18 report. The results for 2016/17 are below:


















#### Answer: Junior/3rd year by

OQ5. Institution Specific Questions - I feel like someone in residence cares about my well

N = 167

being and would notice if I were in need of assistance.



Answer	N	% of Total	% of Population
(1) Strongly Disagree	22	13.2 %	1.3 %
(2) Disagree	14	8.4 %	0.9 %
(3) Mildly Disagree	12	7.2 %	0.7 %
(4) Neutral	43	25.8 %	2.6 %
(5) Mildly Agree	26	15.6 %	1.6 %
(6) Agree	31	18.6 %	1.9 %
(7) Strongly Agree	19	11.4 %	1.2 %





Answer: Junior/3rd year by



		Answer	N	% of Total	% of Population
(1) Very dissatisfied -	45 (25.6%)	(1) Very dissatisfied	45	25.6 %	2.7 %
) Moderately dissatisfied -	28 (15.9%)	(2) Moderately dissatisfied	28	15.9 %	1.7 %
(3) Slightly dissatisfied -	22 (12.5%)	(3) Slightly dissatisfied	22	12.5 %	1.3 %
(D) Clintal and a line		(4) Neutral	10	5.7 %	0.6 %
(5) Slightly satisfied -	20 (11.4%)	(5) Slightly satisfied	20	11.4 %	1.2 %
(6) Moderately satisfied (7) Very satisfied	22 (12.5%) 29 (16.5%)	(6) Moderately satisfied	22	12.5 %	1.3 %
(/) very satisfied	20(10.076)	(7) Very satisfied	29	16.5 %	1.8 %

iswer: Senior/4th yea 040. Hall/Apt. Environn om		l are you with: Int	ernet connectivity in yo	ur		N = 14
			Answer	N	% of Total	% of Populatio
(1) Very dissatisfied -		37 (25.9%)	(1) Very dissatisfied	37	25.9 %	2.3 %
(2) Moderately dissatisfied	15 (10.5%		(2) Moderately dissatisfied	15	10.5 %	0.9 %
(3) Slightly dissatisfied (4) Neutral	10 (7.0%)	24 (16.8%)	(3) Slightly dissatisfied	24	16.8 %	1.5 %
			(4) Neutral	10	7.0 %	0.6 %
(5) Slightly satisfied -	12 (8.4%)		(5) Slightly satisfied	12	8.4 %	0.7 %
(6) Moderately satisfied - (7) Very satisfied -	17(11.5	28 (19.6%)	(6) Moderately satisfied	28	19.6 %	1.7 %
(,),,			(7) Very satisfied		11.9 %	1.0 %

N = 179

These results can tell us generally about community-building on campus, but it also demonstrates a gap in our understanding of *how* this community-building is taking place, and through what means. For example, when students are asked to what degree they feel "accepted by others" (Skyfactor, 2017) in the 2016/17 academic term, 29.0% of second-year undergraduate students felt "extremely" accepted by other students. 30.2% rated this question a 6 on scale of 7, and only 18% felt moderately about being accepted. There were very similar results for third-year undergraduates, where 29.7% felt extremely accepted, 22.1% rated 6 out of 7 and only 4.7% said they don't feel accepted at all (Skyfactor, 2017). Fourth-year undergraduate students mirrored these results as well, whereby 29.7% felt extremely accepted, 29.0% rated 6 out of 7 and 21.7% felt moderately accepted by other students. This data shows clearly that students are feeling comfortable with their peers and are building thriving communities. However, we don't know how they are achieving this, and whether technology plays a role.

When students were asked to what degree they feel that living in residence has helped them meet people, which is a cornerstone of building a sense of community, 32.2% of second year undergraduate students rated that their ability to meet people was increased, a rating of 7 out of 7 on the scale. 17.8% of these students rated the question 6 out 7 on the scale, and 16.3% felt that living in residence as moderately impacted their ability to meet people (Skyfactor, 2017). Third-year undergraduates felt slightly differently on this question, as only 24.9% gave a 7 out of 7 on the scale. 20.9% felt moderately about their ability to meet people, and 10.7% felt that living in residence hasn't helped them meet people at all. Fourth-year undergraduates had more dispersed results, with 27.3% rating 7 out of 7, 23.1% were moderately impacted, and 12.6% said living in residence hasn't helped them meet people at all (Skyfactor, 2017). Again, this data is clearly showing us that upper-year undergraduates feel that they have had a greater ability to

meet people, but we don't know where these interactions are taking place, we don't know if the connections area primarily with their roommates, classmates, or clubs on campus. My study aims to find out more about these community building activities.

When students were asking whether they feel that, as a byproduct of living on campus, if someone would care about their well-being or notice if they needed assistance, only 16.7% of second-year undergraduate students felt "extremely" positive in regards to this question, rating it 7 out of 7 on the scale. 27.2% gave 6 out 7 on the scale, and 17.5% felt neutral about the question (Skyfactor, 2017). 18.6% of third-year undergraduates agreed to a 6 on the scale, whereas 25.8% felt neutral about it, and 13.2% disagreed entirely. When it comes to fourth-year undergraduates, 13.0% also disagreed that someone would notice if they needed assistance or cared about their wellbeing as a result of living on campus. 25.8% felt neutrally about it, and 18.0% agree that someone would care if they needed help. In regards to this question, not a lot of students felt strongly that someone would be there if they needed it. Why is that? If the sense of community is strong within this group, why do they feel neutrally about someone noticing if there was a threat to their well-being?

In 2016/17, when students were asked whether living on campus has contributed to their sense of belonging to the University of Alberta, 20.0% of second-year undergraduates felt an extreme sense of belonging to the institution, 22.8% rated a 6 out of 7 on the scale, and 20.8% felt a moderate sense of belonging (Skyfactor, 2017). 22.3% of third-year undergraduates gave a rating of 6 out 7 on the scale, 21.7% felt an extreme sense of belonging to the institution, while 18.4% feel a moderate sense of belonging. When it comes to the fourth-year undergraduate results, 9.0% felt zero sense of belonging to the University of Alberta. 22.6% on the other hand, felt an extreme sense of belonging, and 26.4% felt moderately about it. In this case, most

students feel an enhanced sense of belonging to the institution, which could lead one to believe that their sense of community is strong and is thriving. If living in residence makes upper-year undergraduate students feel a high sense of belonging, perhaps we can figure out more details on why that is, and why a large number of students also feel a moderate sense of belonging.

The only question that the Student Satisfaction and Learning Survey asks in relation to technology, is to what degree they feel satisfied by their internet connection. We know that college students are among the highest users of the internet, so it is not surprising that 34.0% of second-year undergraduates feel very dissatisfied with their internet connectivity. 16.0% of students, respectively, feel both slightly dissatisfied and moderately satisfied, whereas only 10.7% feel moderately dissatisfied (Skyfactor, 2017). Fewer third-year undergraduates felt very dissatisfied at 25.6%, and 16.5% very satisfied while 15.9% felt moderately dissatisfied. 25.9% of fourth-year undergraduates felt very dissatisfied with their internet connectivity, 19.6% felt moderately satisfied and 16.8% felt only slightly dissatisfied with the quality of their internet provision on campus. We ask about internet connectivity in terms of a technology-related question, but we have don't know what the students are relying on their internet connection for. We can assume that it is so that they can stream Netflix and play Xbox One, but we don't really know, and this demonstrates the gap in the research. What does the data tell us right now? Basically, it tells us that the strength of the internet connection likely varies based on residencetype, which would impact which groups of students would feel satisfied or unsatisfied. What we don't know is what the students are primarily using this technology for, and what their expectations of the service are, and we definitely don't know if their internet connection is helping them build community.

In 2017/18, Residence Services at the University of Alberta collected the data in-house through their own researchers, called Campus Labs. The questions were replicated from the Skyfactor survey for validity, and some extra, institutional-specific questions were asked. The results for all upper-year undergraduate students are below:

Summary View		Lister		Michener Park		Newton Place		East Campus (All other Residences, including Residence Saint- Jean)		Total	
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percen
x	A great deal	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	38	10.83 %	38	10.83 %
Q98. As a result of your experience living in	Considerably	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	63	17.95 %	63	17.95 %
residence, to what	Somewhat	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	92	26.21 %	92	26.21 9
degree are you better able to Meet other	Slightly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	89	25.36 %	89	25.36 9
people?	Not at all	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	69	19.66 %	69	19.66 9
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	351	100.00 %	351	100.00
Summary View			Lister	Michener Park		New	ton Place	other Re	mpus (All sidences, including nce Saint- Jean)		Tota
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percen
X	Strongly agree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	52	15.07 %	52	15.07 %
Q142. Please indicate your level of agreement	Somewhat agree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	119	34.49 %	119	34.49 %
with the following	Neutral	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	97	28.12 %	97	28.12 %
statements: - l feel like someone in residence cares about my well	Somewhat disagree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	30	8.70 %	30	8.70 %
being.	Strongly disagree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	47	13.62 %	47	13.62 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	345	100.00 %	345	100.00
Summary View			Lister	Miche	ener Park	New	on Place	other Re	mpus (All sidences, including nce Saint- Jean)		Total
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
X	Strongly agree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	43	12.46 %	43	12.46 %
Q143. Please indicate your level of agreement	Somewhat agree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	90	26.09 %	90	26.09 %
with the following	Neutral	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	72	20.87 %	72	20.87 %
statements: - I feel like someone in residence would notice if I were in	Somewhat disagree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	60	17.39 %	60	17.39 %
need of assistance	Strongly disagree	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	80	23.19 %	80	23.19 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	345	100.00 %	345	100.00 %

									sidences, including nce Saint- Jean)		
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
×	A great deal	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	55	16.03 %	55	16.03 %
Q158. To what degree has living in residence	Considerably	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	76	22.16 %	76	22.16 %
positively contributed	Somewhat	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	109	31.78 %	109	31.78 %
to your Sense of belonging to the	Slightly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	44	12.83 %	44	12.83 %
University of Alberta?	Not at all	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	59	17.20 %	59	17.20 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	343	100.00 %	343	100.00 %

Summary View			Lister	Miche	ener Park	New	ton Place	other Re	mpus (All sidences, including nce Saint- Jean)		Total
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
×	Completely	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	27	7.63 %	27	7.63 %
Q77. How well does the UWS in the common	Mostly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	93	26.27 %	93	26.27 %
areas of your residence	Somewhat	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	102	28.81 %	102	28.81 %
meet your needs?	Slightly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	85	24.01 %	85	24.01 %
	Not at all	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	47	13.28 %	47	13.28 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	354	100.00 %	354	100.00 %
×	Completely	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	27	7.63 %	27	7.63 %
Q78. How well does the	Mostly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	76	21.47 %	76	21.47 %
UWS available in your room meet your needs?	Somewhat	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	74	20.90 %	74	20.90 %
	Slightly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	94	26.55 %	94	26.55 %
	Not at all	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	83	23.45 %	83	23.45 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	354	100.00 %	354	100.00 %
×	None	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	8	2.26 %	8	2.26 %
Q79. How many devices do you have that	1 - 2	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	243	68.64 %	243	68.64 %
connect to UWS?	3 - 4	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	94	26.55 %	94	26.55 %
	More than 4 devices	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	9	2.54 %	9	2.54 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	354	100.00 %	354	100.00 %
Summary View								other Residences, including Residence Saint- Jean)			
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent
×	Cell Phone	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	347	43.16 %	347	43.16 %
Q81. What types of devices do you use to connect to UWS? (Select	Desktop Computer	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	26	3.23 %	26	3.23 %
all that apply)	Laptop Computer	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	335	41.67 %	335	41.67 %
	Tablet	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	77	9.58 %	77	9.58 %
	Television	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	8	1.00 %	8	1.00 %
	Gaming System	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	7	0.87 %	7	0.87 %
	Other (please specify)	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	4	0.50 %	4	0.50 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	804	100.00 %	804	100.00 9
Summary View			Lister	Mich	ener Park	New	rton Place	other Re	ampus (All esidences, including nce Saint- Jean)		Tota
		Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percent	Count	Percen
	Completely	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	15	36.59 %	15	36.59 %
Q83. How well does your internet meet your	Mostly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	11	26.83 %	11	26.83 %
needs?	Somewhat	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	2	4.88 %	2	4.88 %
	Slightly	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	10	24.39 %	10	24.39 %
	Not at all	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	3	7.32 %	3	7.32 %
	Total	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %		100.00 %		100.00

Due to the changes in data visualization and presentation, we are able to review the results for second to fourth year of study in one view. For the 2017/18 academic term, when students were asked whether their ability to meet people has been enhanced by living in residence, 26.21% felt it somewhat enhanced their ability to meet people. 25.26% felt that they slightly were better able to meet people as a result of living on campus, and 19.0% felt it hadn't impacted their ability to meet people at all (Campus Labs, 2018). When we compare this to the 2016/17 data the results are similar on the higher end; however, there is an increase in students feeling "not at all" like living on campus has helped them meet people. These types of comparisons allow Student Affairs professionals at the University of Alberta learn more about the student experience, and ask more questions in relation to these students' ability to build community. That said, we still don't explicitly ask these questions.

When it comes to upper-year undergraduate students well-being, 34.49% of respondents "somewhat agree" that someone in residence cares about their well-being, and this is the second highest answer on the scale. 28.12% feel neutrally about it, and 15.07% strongly agree that someone cares about their well-being (Campus Labs). Again, in comparison to 2016/17 data it is very comparable. There aren't any glaring differences between these two years and the responses of upper-year students. As for the survey question regarding students' need for assistance, 26.09% of all upper-year undergraduates somewhat agree that someone would notice if they needed assistance. 20.87% of students felt neutrally about it, and 23.19% strong disagree. What does this tell us about this community? The results are relatively equal across the scale on this question. So, again, if students are building thriving communities, *how* are they doing so? We cannot discern that from these survey questions alone.

The 2017/18 survey data shows us, when it comes to the sense of belonging to the institution, 31.78% of students somewhat feel a higher sense of belonging. 22.16% felt that their sense of belonging to the institution increased considerably, 17.20% felt no sense of belonging at all, followed closely by 16.03% of upper-year undergraduates demonstrating that living on campus has increased their sense of belonging by a great deal. Essentially, we don't know if students are building community simply by proximity to each other, shared interests, residence programming, etc. Further to that, we don't ask students if technology plays a role in their ability to build community on campus, we simply ask them in 2016/17 if their internet connection is satisfactory for them.

In 2017/18 Residence Services did ask students more questions about their internet use, as demonstrated by the survey data above. This demonstrates how the survey can be used to ask deeper, more targeted questions about the student experience, based on what the responses represent. Clearly there's a desire to better understand the provision of internet across the residence buildings at the University of Alberta, and in an effort to find out more about this specific phenomena, more technology-related questions were asked in the Student Satisfaction and Learning Survey in 2017/18 compared to previous years. The survey expanded on the line of questioning when it comes to internet usage on campus. Students were asked if the internet was satisfactory in the residence common areas. Naturally, this could be considered an area where students might build community and forge stronger bonds with their neighbors. 28.81% of upper-year undergraduates felt somewhat satisfied by the internet services. 26.27% felt mostly satisfied, while 24.01% felt only slightly satisfied (Campus Labs, 2018). When it comes to measuring student satisfaction with the connection in their unit/room, 26.55% felt slightly satisfied, 21.47% felt mostly satisfied, and 23.45% felt not at all satisfied with their internet

services within the walls of their unit or room. The overwhelming majority of upper-year undergraduate students, at 68.64%, are connecting 1-2 devices to the internet, while 26.53% of students are connecting 3-4 devices (Campus Labs, 2018). Further to that, 43.16% are connecting with their cellphones, 41.67% are connecting via a laptop, and only 9.58% are connecting a tablet to the internet services. This "deeper dive" into the provision of internet services tells us that generally, no matter where students are living, they are slightly to somewhat satisfied with their internet connectivity. We know they are connecting multiple devices and using the internet for various activities. Thus, 36.59% of upper-year undergraduates are completely satisfied with their internet connection while living on campus, and only 7.32% are not at all satisfied.

The rich results of this data helped shape Phase 2 of this study, the interview process. Since upper-year undergraduate students from both data sets felt strongly that living on campus helped them meet people, feel accepted by other students, and contributed to a sense of belonging to the institution, we can deduce that the communities are thriving. What we don't know is *why* or *how*. Why do students feel accepted? What activities facilitated community building, and a sense of acceptance among their peers?

We don't really know whether students feel a sense of belonging to the institution because of something that we can improve upon, or if simply living on campus makes them feel connected to something greater. It is interesting to note that though students feel all of this connection, they still were relatively unsure when it came to the question of someone noticing if they needed assistance. Is that not the very definition of being part of something greater than oneself? Why does that response garner a neutral result? Further to that, we understand the least

about this population than any other on campus, largely because we make too many assumptions about the needs of this upper-year community.

## **Phase 2: Interview Data**

As part of the recruitment process, participants were asked to complete a pre-interview questionnaire (Appendix C), where they provided some basic demographic information about themselves as well as a summary of the types of ICTs that they engage with while on campus. 100% of respondents indicated that they use social media while living on campus (ex: Facebook, Instagram, SnapChat), while 85.7% indicated that they use mobile applications like their UAlberta app or their Residence Account. 28.6% indicated that they use video gaming devices, like Xbox or online gaming, and 71.4% indicated that they use social message-board websites like Reddit, chatrooms, or blogs (Hurlburt, 2018).

# What ICTs (information communication technologies) do you use? (select all that apply)





Figure 3: ICT use among upper-year undergraduate participants

These results helped to guide the interviews in terms of focusing on social media as the primary ICT identified by the sample population that they are engaging with the most. Participants were then invited to an in-person interview where they were asked a series of semistructured interview questions (Appendix D), and the interviews ranged from 15 to 25 minutes. Participants were both male and female, lived in various buildings on East Campus at the University of Alberta, and were both international and domestic.

Year of Study	Residence Building (East Campus)	Demographic	Gender
Third Year	HUB Mall	International	Female
Second Year	HUB Mall	Domestic	Female
Third Year	Alder House	Domestic	Female
Third Year	Maple House	Domestic	Female
Fourth Year	HUB Mall	International	Male
Second Year	Tamarack House	International	Female
Second Year	Maple House	Domestic	Male

Table 2: Participant demographic data summary

## **Coding & Analysis**

All 9 interviews were audio recorded and then transcribed for the purposes of analysis. Once the interviews were transcribed, I listened to each recording and wrote down common phrases, words, and reviewed my notes and observations that I took during the interviews themselves. Copies of these notes and the coding process are detailed in Appendix E After listening to all of the interviews and transcribing codes, the interviews were listened to a third and fourth time, where tallies were done on all the codes. A tally sheet was then created to determine themes from the data set, which were analyzed further through qualitative description. After coding and analysis was complete, 4 key themes emerged from the data in relation to the research questions. Those themes are discussed in detail in the discussion section of this paper,

and they include: Defining Community, Location & Style of Residence Building, Creating Connections, and Social Media & Building Community.



Figure 4: common words and phrases from the analysis

# Defining Community

It became clear through the analysis of the interviews that students were very cognizant of the process of "building community" and what that would mean in regards to their personal experience—and that we would first need to define their community before we could find out what activities would help build that community and foster engagement. Some of the participants had been living on campus throughout their university experience, beginning in their first year of

study. These students were keenly aware of the fundamental differences between the "first-year" experience and the "upper-year" experience when it comes to building their networks on campus. Students began to define their "upper-year" community, using words such as: mature, serious, studious, study focused, and private.

These characteristics are important to consider in reference to my second Research Question "**RQ2:** Does the use of social media while living on campus facilitate student outcomes related to community building and engagement?" (Hurlburt, 2017) because "community building" for upper-year undergraduates is going to look different in comparison to other populations. This is essentially why the students had to meet specific criteria in order to participate, as it addresses a gap in the current literature. Since most research focuses on the firstyear population, it is significant to note that the needs of upper-years are going to be different, and need to be defined in terms of how they build community. Given the words that the participants were using to describe themselves, it is not surprising that they also expressed difficulty in connecting with others. Participants felt that the needs for an upper-year student can often conflict with the outcome of community-building, because they are at a point in their studies where they are more focused on their academics, and less focused on "meeting people."

Take for example what this second-year student, living in a single bedroom in Alder House on East Campus, had to say about meeting people:

When I moved here, I literally knew nobody, so I was really eager to make friends in my building, and then, that eagerness went away when I was so busy with school. I was like, 'I really don't have time.' I haven't really connected with too many people outside of the

building, either, except in law school. I'm just really busy with studying, so I'm not really offended...everyone is crazy busy (Personal Communication, 2018).

Other participants echoed this expression of being busy, studious, and mature, and a definition for the upper-year community began to form. Students also expressed that meeting people and creating a sense of community is challenging because of the level of maturity of the group. They felt that "friend groups" were already established from previous years, and less effort had to be made to create a sense of community or to create strong bonds with other people on campus. Alternatively, participants expressed that they would meet people through class or clubs, and that crossing paths with people in residence was not something that was reliable or would happen frequently. Some students had created social groups both online and in-person, some did not feel the "need" to connect with people on a regular basis. For most participants it came down to a level of effort—but ultimately they all felt that taking a break from studies and connecting with people was still important—but perhaps not a priority. A third-year student living in a studio apartment on East Campus, when asked about the "need" for community building for upper-year students, said:

It's a lot more mature. People, I feel like, just have different goals there [East Campus]. People are very studious. Even working as an RA in HUB, I would do my check-ins, and I would always find people studying a lot. I found that people are a lot more studious because it's upper-year, so people take school a bit more serious. I'm not saying that in Lister [first-year community], I didn't meet people who are serious about school, but I'm saying there's a bit of a difference. It makes sense in upper years, that people take their studies more seriously (Personal Communication, 2018).

Creating community bonds and connections with others becomes secondary or even tertiary by nature for upper-year undergraduates, so when we begin discussing the role of technology—specifically social media—it also plays a very particular role in regards to community building. This is in reference to my first Research Question: "**RQ1**: How are upperyear undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta using social media?" (Hurlburt, 2018) because students are naturally going to have a different relationship with the technology they are using to build community than other populations on campus. This theme is expanded on in the "Social Media & Building Community" section.

## Location & Style of Residence Building

Once students outlined what "community" meant to them, being in a more mature phase of life, and more focused on academics, the participants began to discuss their physical location and how it impacts their ability to build community. Most students that were interviewed happened to live in HUB Mall, which is a residence that houses approximately 800 students during the academic term, in studio, one, two, and four bedroom apartments. These students are primarily upper-year undergraduates, and HUB is centrally located on campus. It's close to the LRT transit system, central to most academic buildings, and is a short walk to convenient amenities. Every student from HUB mentioned a key feature about the building that in their view, impacts their ability to network and connect with other residents in the building: the stairwells.



HUB - Two Bedroom Unit



Figure 5: HUB Mall Residence at the University of Alberta and a sample floor plan

In an effort to describe the challenges associated with the stairwells, a fourth-year student living in HUB said:

In HUB it's really, really difficult to meet people because it's not like Lister, which is a dorm style. HUB works with stairwells and so it's really difficult to meet your neighbours upstairs or downstairs. You don't have anyone living in front of you or next to you, so the only people you meet is your roommate—if you have roommates (Personal Communication, 2018).

Another second-year student living in HUB echoed the difficulty regarding the stairwells, saying that:

You don't have to socialize in HUB except for with your own roommates. Even then, that's only two to three other people...it's the building HUB itself. There's stairwells.

There's not even common hallways, there's the middle hallway, but those aren't necessarily in the residences. Whereas the other places like Tamarack House and Linden House, they have hallways so at least you're passing other people in your building. Whereas in HUB, it's a stairwell so you might pass maybe one person (Personal Communication, 2018).

Clearly the layout of the building impacts upper-year students' ability to make connections with other students, just by crossing paths with them. All three students interviewed who live in HUB noted how challenging it is to meet people and create lasting bonds, partly due to the way the building is designed, noting that if one did not want to, they did not have to interact with a single person on any given day if they did not wish to. These results reaffirm how community-building activities are more fluid and seamless in a first-year community, where the building style lends itself to purposeful networking opportunities. Every student that was interviewed that lived in a first-year community (Lister) before transitioning to an upper-year community, noted how much simpler it was to meet people, make connections, and to sustain those connections over time, simply due to the building style, layout, and design. Take for example this statement from another upper-year undergraduate living in HUB, "Building community, for sure, it's easier in Lister than in HUB because of the style of the building" (Personal Communication, 2018).

#### Events & Programming

A second-year law student noted that her RA promised "community-building" events to her early in the academic term, but when it came down to it, the interactions never really took place—at least not in a way where she felt that a sense of community was being created in her building. She said that:

I maybe had one or two encounters with more that one person in the same room from my building, and it's usually the first meeting of the whole year. After that, there's just radio silence, basically. I haven't had too many opportunities to cross paths with people, I live in a walk-up, like a townhouse. At those group meetings, maybe 8 to 10 people show up, out of my whole building. That's the maximum number of people I ever see. So there's like 75% to 85% of the building that I have never even met before (Personal Communication, 2018).

This students' experience outlines a common one in the East Campus community, that there's a desire to connect, but the physical pathways aren't conducive to traditional forms of community building. A second-year student that lives in Tamarack House said that, from her previous experience living in HUB:

I think for building community, Lister is a better place because you live in a dorm-style building, you have floor meetings, you have floor events, and dodgeball. That kind of helps you to meet your community in a better way. But then, I think at one point of time you need to go to some private place and I think HUB fulfills that. I think one year is good enough time for you to build your community. You don't get to know people too much as compared to Lister in HUB, but still, I have some of my friends from Lister who are living in HUB, so it's kind of fine (Personal Communication, 2018).

As this student notes, though community building is easier in Lister, upper-year students eventually need to move on and find more mature, independent, private living situations while they finish their degree. Student Affairs professionals living in these buildings may be relying too heavily on the fact that upper-year students want privacy, and are less likely to promote a sense of community, considering these students are study-focused and serious about their

academics. Though this is true and this is how the community defines itself, almost every student still mentioned that they had an expectation to connect with people more, build stronger networks, and have more face-to-face interactions that has remained unfulfilled. This sentiment is captured by a fourth-year student living in HUB, when he said:

The building style is really independent. I knew that when I came to Canada. I knew that I don't want to share a washroom. I don't want to share a kitchen. I wanted the stuff for myself so that's why I applied for HUB, besides the price, which is the cheapest residence on campus. I wanted my own washroom, my own kitchen. I wanted to do stuff by myself. I also wanted to connect with people. I was expecting people to come up to the programs but it didn't happen (Personal Communication, 2018).

This building layout isn't entirely a disadvantage though, given that these students have already identified themselves as studious, serious, and academically focused. What seems to be missing is a balance between privacy and isolation, between taking a break from academics and fostering a sense of community with their peers.

This is where the interview questions began to explore the role of social media in building community. Could social media act as the bridge needed to connect people, in a place where connections may not happen as frequent or naturally? Participants indicated that social media was a good first step for initial contact, that it could help build trust with peers, and allow students to observe from a distance and decide what level of effort they wanted to give to any given situation or community event.

#### Creating Connections

Now that students defined their community and outlined the challenges around the building styles on East Campus, the next theme revealed in the data is the concept of creating connections within these communities, despite the demonstrated challenges. One student, in her third-year of study living in Maple House, simply feels it comes down to an individual's level of effort:

I would say if you make the effort to do so [build community] it's not as difficult. For example, like you attend events that are put on by your RA, I found that the events really do build the community, so I feel like if you attend those, you take advantage of them, meet a lot of people. I feel like it's the amount of effort you put in, that's what it comes down to. Because in Lister it's a bit easier because you're just on the floor and it's just easier to meet people naturally, but there it's dorms. Here, it's secluded so much more, but if you make the effort I feel like you-- I definitely met some really good friends out there (Personal Communication, 2018).

For this student, even though it was "easier" to build community in a first-year building, she still felt that the concept itself is dependent on how much effort a person was willing to bring to the situation. I then asked the participants how they are meeting people and building their networks while living on campus, despite the challenges of living in a more independent community. Students referenced events and programs in residence, clubs and groups that they are connected to through student associations and their student union, and just basic activities in their friend groups, like going to the movies or out to restaurants or bars in the city. Students also mentioned meeting people through their classes and working on assignments through group projects in various locations across campus. Several students interviewed decided to become

RAs in their communities, in order to create more connections and get more involved in their communities. Take for example this student, who is a fourth-year living in HUB:

I had the apartment for myself but sometimes I felt lonely. I didn't have anyone to talk to so as a resident in HUB it's really, really difficult to connect with people. Now that I'm an RA in HUB for the past year it's better. You get to know the residents in the community in the area that you are overseeing. You also get the chance to work with the RA team in HUB and meet more people and make friends with them (Personal Communication, 2018).

He found that becoming an RA put him in a position where he could meet like-minded student leaders and meet more people in general. Considering the building he lives in houses an average of 800 residents, becoming active in the community might be perceived as not that difficult from an outside perspective, given the density of the population in the building. But, even in a community where you have a critical mass of students of the same or similar year of study, creating connections isn't always so simple. Even as an RA, this student recognizes the difficulty of getting students to come out of their private, more isolated apartments, and the challenges associated with encouraging them to join in community programming.

Another participant, who lived in HUB but now resides in Tamarack House, echoes the challenges facing upper-year communities, and also highlights the concept regarding individual students' level of effort:

The person that creates the group has to constantly be encouraging people to be connecting, to keep the group lively and active, because some groups are just always quiet and nobody really talks, so that will still be awkward like you don't really know

each other and nobody is talking to each other. I feel the person that creates the group [RA] is meant to keep on asking questions and talking and bringing conversations so people actually get to start talking and continue to meet with each other (Personal Communication, 2018).

The mature nature of the community perhaps allows for more distance when it comes to creating community bonds. Everyone is in the same boat so to speak, so there's a general level of acceptance when it comes to people in the community being busy studying, or having a more independent experience—there isn't as much of a community drive to get every single person outside of their apartment and into the community. One way these upper-year students are connecting is to observe from a distance, and choosing which activities they want to participate in, and this can be achieved effectively through the use of social media. They are using these platforms to observe and then participate digitally when they feel up to it. A third-year student from HUB said that Facebook pages and group chats help her discover what is going on outside of her apartment so that she can take a break from studying if she wants to:

Social media helps to get people informed on what's happening in the community, like keeping everybody in the know. Because to have a good community you need connections, and without anything else—because people can get lost in studying and stuff like that, but with social media they have some way to know, 'Oh, there's stuff going down, I can take a break,' and go and lounge, go talk to people, just to get people knowing what's happening (Personal Communication, 2018).

These levels of participation are interesting because even though every student mentioned how busy people are and how studious they are in the community, but they still have a strong

expectation to be able to make strong connections to that community, outside of academic settings. When it comes to creating these connections over social media, a third-year law student made a point about expectations around certain social media. When asked what social media platforms she uses to connect with her peers in residence and on campus, she said that it can be confusing and difficult to navigate. "It's hard. Everyone is on dating apps these days and 'Why is it taboo to make friends through social media, if you can make relationships?' I don't know, it feels like making friends online isn't okay, compared to having a Tinder profile" (Personal Communication, 2018). So, depending on where a student sees themselves in the community, creating connections at different levels is really dependent on their level of effort, and interest in doing so. All of the participants did indicate that they are using various social media platforms to build connections with their community, which brings us to our final theme derived from the data.

#### Social Media & Building Community

All seven participants answered "yes" to whether they think social media can facilitate community-building while living on campus at the University of Alberta as an upper-year student. Participants were insistent that social media could never replace face-to-face, in-person interactions, but it could be a place for students in this type of community to begin to feel comfortable with one another. As one participant put it, a second-year law student who lives in Alder House, "I think social media could be used as the starting point, but I think that you would need to meet someone in person to figure out if you can actually connect with them" (Personal Communication, 2018). Every participant in the study indicated that they use social media to connect with other people living on campus, and they use it as a tool for community building, but that they don't rely on it entirely. Another participant said, "…social media is like the second

alternative, but I think meeting face-to-face gives a stronger sense of community and bond at the end of the day" (Personal Communication, 2018). There was an overwhelming consensus from all participants that social media played an initiation role, acting more like a bridge to the real community building that takes place when people meet face-to-face.

All of the participants also indicated that there were other benefits to using social media as a starting point, because it allows them to join groups at their own pace. The platforms that these students are electing to be on to build their networks is also important here, each one has a specific use for the type of relationship that they would like to build. One student mentioned how to her, Instagram was more personal, so if she did not know someone at a deeper level, she would only be their Facebook friend. If the friendship or connection grew from there, she would be more comfortable adding them on Instagram or Snapchat. Another student noted that they preferred Facebook in all circumstances, and could really do without Instagram or Snapchat, so there's definitely a preference at play as well. Despite this, every single participant did mention Facebook as their number one means to connect for the purpose of community building on campus.



Note: Respondents who did not give answer are not shown. "Less often" category includes users who visit these sites a few times a week, every few weeks or less often. Source: Survey conducted Jan. 3-10, 2018. "Social Media Use in 2018"

#### PEW RESEARCH CENTER

As noted earlier, 100% of participants indicated that they are using some form of social media in the preinterview questionnaire, which pre-empted the focus of this study to be on social media,

Figure 6: Pew Research daily social media figures (2018)

rather than various other ICTs. Texting and emails were both mentioned as useful means of communication, but when it comes to the outcome of community building and engagement, the participants referenced social media above anything else. In terms of platforms, each participant mentioned the use of Facebook as their primary source for creating connections. This outcome aligns considerably with a recent Pew Research Survey of adults in the U.S., where 68% are on Facebook daily (Pew Research Centre, 2018). 78% of young adults aged 18-24 (which fits the sample population age range for this study) are using Snapchat and 71% are using Instagram, which also aligns with the habits of the participants of this study. In fact, Facebook, Snapchat, and Instagram are being used on a daily basis, and Instagram and Snapchat are becoming increasingly popular among the 18-24 year old age range.





% of U.S. adults in each age group who say they use ...

Figure 7: Pew Research social media platform use (2018)

One participant demonstrates the validity of the Pew Research regarding platform use among 18 to 24 year olds:

In law school we have class Facebook pages, and we are able to communicate with each other about different events that are going on. And that's basically the only reason I have Facebook, is to make sure I'm up to date with different activities that are going around the school. There's closures around the school, and people post about it there. I think there is one for Alder House but it's not used. I think that it could be used in a better way, to connect people, I'm not sure exactly how, but it would be nice to see familiar faces on Facebook, even. If friendships could be made through that, and you are in the same building, it's not like you're strangers (Personal Communication, 2018).

More than any other platform, all participants in the study cited Facebook pages, groups, friending people on Facebook, and the use of Facebook Messenger as the best way to connect with their peers. They said that using Facebook was easy, convenient, and that "everyone" has it, so it made making that first connection easier. Or, they noted that if they weren't quite ready to be friends, they could still communicate in messenger and in group chats. A participant from Tamarck House explains it as, "First, add me on Facebook, and then when you're like best friends or something you can follow me on Instagram, follow me on Twitter" (Personal Communication, 2018).

I created Figure 7 below to represent how students rank the social media platforms that they are choosing to use to build networks as a result of living on campus. Facebook is the introductory platform for everyone, as well as a place to create groups and events. Instagram demonstrated a deeper level of friendship or connection, but was rarely the first point of connection for this group of students. Snap Chat was the platform that this group unanimously could do without, and students referenced how it acted as a space to observe rather than participate.



Figure 8: social media use among upper-year undergraduates

A fourth-year in HUB said it succinctly, when referring to why he uses social media to build increase his social integration "...it's convenient, fast. It gets you, right away, to connect with that person in seconds" (Personal Communication, 2018). Facebook also helps with the challenges related to the layout of the buildings. Participants noted that it might not be convenient to meet up with people, and that some of those basic communications are easier over social media like Facebook. Participants that are active student leaders also noted how using the

platform helps them remind students to come out of the isolation in their rooms and join in community-building events. The same fourth-year from HUB said that:

It [Facebook] helps connect people. There's a lot of people in that group so we have to post whatever program we're organizing, we post it in advance so people can get to know what's going on or what will happen in certain day and they can just show up if they have the time. It helps me a lot when I'm organizing my programs to use the Facebook group (Personal Communication, 2018).

When the participants were asked which platforms they could do without, the ones that did not assist them in building community on campus, the answers were varied, though there was agreement on one platform overall. Firstly, every participant said they could drop Twitter without a second thought (if they were using it), and that the platform was used more for news or real-time information-not bridging connections in a community. None of the participants said they would get rid of Facebook, but the split enters the picture between Instagram and Snap Chat. Participants noted that the "story" feature was basically the same and was used more for observing than actually connecting with people; however if they had to choose, students said that they would drop Snap Chat before Instagram. The reason Facebook was the top platform was because it works the best for an expressed purpose: connecting people. Facebook use among young adults has been dropping recently, according to the Pew Research Survey, but that actually aligns with this data, because students aren't really using Facebook in their "real" lives. They are using it for class, to connect with groups, and to make plans. They are using it to connect with people in-person rather than building community online. A participant from Tamarack House said that Facebook is the "major platform" to know "things are happening", she said:

Because all events that are happening in residence, I get to know about by their Facebook pages or event pages. All the events or whatever things are happening is through social media. For example, I came to know about your research through social media only. It's the major platform where you get to know about whatever things are happening (Personal Communication, 2018).

Participants also expressed that social media is a less invasive way to do welfare checks on their friends, and approach them if they see they are struggling, without making them feel pressured in person. A second-year from Maple House said:

To have a good community you need connections, because people can get lost in studying and stuff like that, but having some way to know, 'Oh, there's stuff going down, I can take a break,' and go and lounge, go talk to people, just to get people knowing what's happening—yes, because they don't know anything that's going on outside of their room, unless I send out a Facebook message, they have no idea what's going down (Personal Communication, 2018).

Based on this data, students are using social media as a way to coax students out of their academic-focused behaviour, making sure that they make time for social connections and community engagement. Another participant, a second-year from HUB said:

If for example, you have a resident who you haven't seen around and maybe you're concerned. They're more comfortable, too, instead you come knocking on their door and be like, "They're still alive." You can Facebook message them when you're like, 'Hey,

how are you doing?' I feel like it's just a better approach to that (Personal Communication, 2018).

Ultimately, social media is a tool that participants from this target population are using to help facilitate their ability to build strong bonds and a stronger sense of community.

#### Discussion

Overall, it is clear that many factors contribute to student satisfaction and persistence in residence, and the importance and relevance of each factor is dependent on each individual institution and the needs of its students. This research is important not only to the University of Alberta, but also to other institutions that may wish to understand the challenges associated with ICTs as a facilitation tool to promote community-building and engagement. The positive student outcome of building community and engagement is extremely important, and the adoption of certain ICTs over others can give us insight into these impacts, and hopefully we can improve the student experience of living on campus because of it.

#### Theoretical Connections

It is clear through the analysis of the participant interviews that there is a palpable expectation from upper-year undergraduates that they will build a strong sense of community as a result of living on campus. These students also expressed the need to build this community at a slower pace, perhaps even at a distance, and that social media allows them to do so. A level of use and dependency on technology is required in order to achieve this outcome of building a strong sense of community, a finding which aligns with the current research on this subject. As noted throughout this paper, college students are among the heaviest users of the internet globally (Morahan-Martin et al., 2000), and this study supports that fact.

My study leads us to explore the factors motivating students to use social media to build their community and personal networks. This finding is supported by existing research on Uses and Gratifications Theory. The communication function of social media in the context I studied is a clear method of need-fulfillment. Students in my sample population note that social media allows them to form bonds with their peers at their own pace, and it also allows for them to have an immediate, instant response if required. There is a gratification of both an immediate response through the ability for students to practice social integration through these platforms, and the gratification of one's paced, controlled integration into a community of their choosing. In "College student motives for chatting on ICQ," author Louis Leung (2001) explores what motivates college students to use a specific information technology. Leung delves into how computer-mediated communication is a technological development that has social and emotional outcomes for the users of such technology. That study illustrated the gratifications for using these types of technology, demonstrating an emergent spectrum of ICTs that support community development and drive social ties in university residence communities. These same phenomena can be confirmed through my study, as the participants are using social media to support community development on their own terms. Further, Uses and Gratifications theory hypothesizes that "self-motivated audiences actively seek gratifications from various media" (Blumer, 1979), which is also the case here, as illustrated in my pre-interview survey and the responses of my interview participants.

It is important to note the differences I found between the motivations and gratifications of first-year students entering the residence system, and upper-year students. Through a blend of quantitative analysis (Residence Satisfaction Surveys) and the qualitative data I analyzed in this study, there is a clear need for students to define their own community before discussing what

activities contribute to their ability to foster a sense of community on campus. In "*Living Learning Communities and Students' Sense of Community and Belonging*" by Aber et al. (2013), first year students develop a sense of community primarily through a higher sense of academic efficacy, while upper-year students develop a sense of community through a development of self-worth, which can be related to nurturing strong emotional connections, including those derived from their community. Again, there is little research on upper-year students, allowing my study to contribute rich qualitative data to help demonstrate the distinct needs of these students – needs that are outside of the definition created for first-year students or "undergraduate students" more broadly.

The Student Integration Model plays a role in my findings as well. We now know more about the specific needs of this upper-year community of undergraduates, and how developing connections through the various social systems that students belong to impacts their ability to demonstrate the positive outcome of community building. Cheng (2004) found that students' sense of community is derived from their ability to feel valued and to make positive social connections on their campus. Upper-year undergraduates living on campus at the University of Alberta clearly demonstrate the need to create positive social connections, though they are hindered in some ways. This is evident through the challenges associated with the building design of some of the residence facilities on East Campus, and the mature nature of the communities. There also seems to be a challenge for some students to transition into peer-to-peer activities and programming on campus, citing difficulties related to the pressures of their academics and again the layout of the residence facilities. Thus, students in this population are using specific social media platforms to attempt to bridge the gap left by physical space, in an effort to build stronger community bonds.
Facebook proved to be the primary platform used by all participants in the study as the platform of choice for building community on campus. The use of Facebook could be explained by the maturation of the community, as participants discussed specific uses of the platform, through Facebook Pages and Groups, over the gratification of instant messaging through Facebook Messenger. Facebook allows for students to plan to meet face-to-face, where each participant stressed: social media could be used as a first step to community building, but face-to-face interaction has to occur to build strong bonds overall.

#### Limitations

There were several sub-themes that did not pick as much traction with the participants, but have the potential to add further validity to the study. As such these themes are considered a weakness as there are limited resources available to continue data collection on this topic, given the duration of this study. Some of the participants talked about the concept of "false connections" and "boundaries," which did not gain as much traction with other participants. One third-year undergraduate student living in Maple House said that as an RA when she was thinking about how to make connections with her community:

I was thinking of doing a Facebook page, but I ended up not pulling through with it because I just did not have as many people from the zone on my Facebook, so I wasn't sure if—I did not want to push that boundary sometimes. I told people if they want to add me, they can add me on Facebook, but sometimes I understand people choose not to do it (Personal Communication, 2018).

When asked to expand on the concept of boundaries she added that social media houses personal information that people may not want to share with others in the name of community

building. She said that befriending other residents or students on campus on social media is "opening up to your life, through your Facebook page. You can have information like pictures, photos of your life, and that can be sensitive. If people don't want to share that, that's fine (Personal Communication, 2018).

There's also the concept of false friendships, or a false sense of connection, as a result of social media adoption. Two participants in the study noted that social media can be a place where people think they are connected, but really aren't. They outlined how having a certain number of friends on social media wasn't really a reflection of a person's authentic community or friend group. One of those students said that:

Even adding people on Instagram or Snapchat, it's a good way to stay connected. Even though sometimes you think you're connected to people but you're not actually connected. Maybe you met somebody a year ago, and you haven't talked to them in a year, but you still feel you may be still connected because you think you know what's going on in their life by a picture or two every month, which is deceiving to me about Instagram—or not just Instagram. It could be any social platform because you feel like you're connected to somebody, but you're actually might not be as connected at all (Personal Communication, 2018).

This false sense of community may or may not contribute to how students perceive their ability to build community while living on campus, and those results could be explored in a deeper way. The other student who mentioned this phenomena, said that, "People have thousands of friends on Facebook, but you're not friends with everybody. You're friends with probably 10 or 20 of them in reality" (Personal Communication, 2018) so there's definitely potential for

social media to build false community for upper-year undergraduates living in residence at the University of Alberta.

Students also mentioned using social media as a means to connect with communities at a distance, so essentially, connecting with people from other cities, groups, etc. All three international students mentioned missing people from home, and using ICTs as a means to connect with them, including social media. A third-year student living in HUB said, "My first four months was kind of hard because I missed my family. Now, I'm pretty settled down here. I think that's because of the community I've built and all the activities I've indulged in" (Personal Communication, 2018) and she mentioned that the primary way she stays connected with her family is through the application What'sApp. Another student, who has lived overseas, but is from Toronto, said that:

WhatsApp is like—I've noticed here in Canada people don't use WhatsApp a lot. It's mostly to talk with my friends back home and my family. I use Instagram, to keep connected, for example with people that don't live in the same city. I'm from Toronto actually, so it's nice to know what other people are doing, what's going on, so you feel connected in a way. There's definitely a reason for each, same with Snapchat (Personal Communication, 2018).

An international student from HUB echoed this same technique, using ICTs to maintain connections with peers once the in-person connection is broken or disturbed:

When you live in HUB you meet people from all over the world. When they go back home, social media helps you to stay connected with them, but still, I have friends from all over the world and we're organizing this trip next year to Korea. None of us have the

money! We don't know where we are going to do it, but we're going to Korea somehow because we still need to see each other. We still need that face-to-face interaction (Personal Communication, 2018).

Clearly certain ICTs are used over others (What's App, texting, emails) for another type of social connectivity, maintaining bonds over large distances. Students are staying connected with friends and families in other countries and cities more easily through these ICTs. The purpose of this study was to find out whether social media facilitates community building for students living on campus, so it is out of scope to consider the other types of communities (online, distance) that the sample population is fostering.

### Conclusion

Going forward, and if this exploratory study is ever replicated, there will likely be developments in regards to the specific needs of other types of student populations (i.e.: international students, graduate students, etc.). Researchers might also consider how to incorporate the anticipated changes in social media platforms and advancements in technology. Given the pervasiveness of technology, there will no doubt be new and innovative technologies to study when it comes to students living on campus. From this study, as a recommendation to Student Affairs professionals at the University of Alberta, the primary finding is that social media is used as a tool to help upper-year undergraduates build community, and there is a higher expectation from this population to have assistance in building these communities. Though the communities are serious and mature, they still need attention paid to facilitating communitybuilding and building that capacity within this population. These students want and need more opportunities to build community, and social media can be used as a tool to facilitate this

process. The data from this study shows that Facebook is the primary social media platform used to bridge the gaps in connecting upper-year students living on campus at the University of Alberta, and therefore Student Affairs professionals should leverage this form of social media, and use it to their advantage to increase these students' overall sense of belonging to the institution.

## References

- Aber, M., De La Rosa, B., Khuri, L., Mayfield, J., Neville, H., Soble, J., & Spanierman, L. (2013). *Living Learning Communities and Students' Sense of Community and Belonging*. Journal of Student Affairs Research and Practice, 50(3), 308-325.
- Anderson, K. (2001). *Internet Use Among College Students: An Exploratory Study*. Journal of American College Health, 50(1), 21-26.
- Astin, A. W. (1984). *Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education*. Journal of College Student Personnel, 25, 297-308.
- Astin, A. W. (1993). *What matters in college: Four critical years revisited*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Ausiello, K., & Wells, B. (1997). Information Technology and Student Affairs: Planning for the Twenty-First Century. New Directions for Student Services, (78), 71–81.
- Blimling, G. S. (2015). *Student learning in college residence halls: What works, what doesn't, and why.* San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- Blumler, J. G. (1979). *The role of theory in uses and gratifications studies*. Communication Research, 6(1), 9-36.
- Bollen, K., & Hoyle, R. (1990). *Perceived Cohesion: A Conceptual and Empirical Examination*. Social Forces, 69(1-2), 479-504.
- Brown-Leonard, J., Daver, Z., Kurotsuchi-Inkelas, K., & Vogt, K. (2007). *Living-Learning Programs and First-Generation Collge Students' Academic and Social Transition to College*. Research in Higher Education, 48(4), 403-431.
- Campus Labs. All Residences Units Satisfaction and Learning. University of Alberta (2018).
- Cavins, K.M., & Johnson, W.G. (1996). *Strategies for enhancing student learning in residence halls*. New Directions for Student Services, 75, 69-82.
- Chatman, E. A. (1991). *Life in a small world: Applicability of gratification theory to information-seeking behavior.* Journal of the American Society for Information Science, 42(6), 438-449.
- Chen, G.M. (2011). *Tweet this: A uses and gratifications perspective on how active Twitter use gratifies a need to connect with others.* Computers in Human Behavior, 27(2), 755-672.
- Cheng, D. (2004) *Students' Sense of Campus Community: What it Means, and What to do About It.* NASPA Journal, 41(2), 216-234.

- Christensson, P. (2010, January 4). *ICT Definition*. Retrieved 2018, Aug 8, from https://techterms.com
- Cullum, J. (2007). Cultural evolution: Interpersonal influence, issue importance, and the development of shared attitudes in college residence halls. Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 33(10), 1327-1339.
- Davis, T., & Murrell, P. (1993). A Structural Model of Perceived Academic, Personal, and Vocational Gains Related to College Student Responsibility. Research in Higher Education, 34(3), 267-289.
- Dabbagh, N., & Kitsantas, A. (2012). Personal Learning Environments, social media, and selfregulated learning: A natural formula for connecting formal and informal learning. Internet and Higher Education, (15), 3-8.
- DeAndrea, D. C., Ellison, N. B., LaRose, R., Steinfield, C., & Fiore, A. (2012). Serious social media: On the use of social media for improving students' adjustment to college. The Internet and Higher Education, 15, 15-23.
- Engstrom, C. M. (1997). *Integrating information technology into student affairs graduate programs*. New Directions for Student Services, (78), 59-69.
- Foubert, J., Morrison, D., Tepper, R. (1998). *Predictors of student satisfaction in university residence halls*. University of Maryland at College Par, 27(1), 40-46.
- Gatz, L. B., & Hirt, J. B. (2000). Academic and Social Integration in Cyberspace: Students and *E-mail*. The Review of Higher Education, (3), 299.
- Gemmil, E., & Peterson, M. (2006). *Technology Use Among College Students: Implications for Student Affairs Professionals*. NASPA Journal, 43(2), 280-300.
- Getzel, E. (2008). Addressing the Persistence and Retention of Students with Disabilities in Higher Education: Incorporating Key Strategies and Supports on Campus. Exceptionality, A Special Education Journal, 16(4), 2017-219.
- Heiberger, G., & Harper, R. (2008). *Have you Facebooked Astin Lately? Using Technology to Increase Student Involvement*. New Directions for Student Services, (124), 19-35.
- Higher Education Research Institute. (2007). CIRP freshman survey.
- Hill, C. (2004). *Housing strategies for the 21st century: Revitalizing residential life on campus*. Planning for Higher Education, *32*(3), 25-36.
- Hurlburt, B. (2017). *Research Design Brief*. Applied Research in Communication & Technology MA Program.

- Leese, M. (2009). Out of Class—Out of Mind? The Use of a Virtual Learning Environment to Encourage Student Engagement in Out of Class Activities. British Journal of Educational Technology, 40(1), 70-77.
- Johnson, J., & Romanoff, S. (1999). *Higher Education Residential Learning Communities: What are the Implications for Student Success?* College Student Journal, 33(3), 385-411.
- Jones, S., (2002). *The Internet goes to college: How students are living in the future with today's technology.* Pew Internet and American Life Project.
- Junco, R. & Chickering, A. W. (2010). *Civil discourse in the age of social media*. About Campus, 15: 12–18.
- Junco, R., & Timm, D. M. (2008). Using emerging technologies to enhance student engagement. New Directions for Student Services, 124.
- Kanoy, K. W., & Bruhn, J. W. (1996). Effects of a first-year living and learning residence hall on retention and academic performance. Journal of the Freshman Year Experience & Students in Transition, 8(1), 7-23.
- Kuh, G., & Zhao, C. (2004). *Adding Value: Learning Communities and Student Engagement*. Research in Higher Education, 45(2), 115-127.
- Kruger, K. (2000). Using information technology to create communities of learners. New Directions for Higher Education, (109), 59-70.
- Kvavik, R. (2004). *Convenience, Communications, and Control: How Students Use Technology.* EDUCAUSE Center for Analysis and Research and University of Minnesota, Twin Cities.
- Li, Y., Sheely II, M. C., & Whalen, D. F. (2005). Contributors to Residence Hall Student Retention: Why do Students Choose to Leave or Stay?. Journal Of College & University Student Housing, 33(2), 28-36.
- Lizzo, A., Wilson, K. (2010). Strengthening commencing students' sense of purpose: Integrating theory and practice. Griffith University, 1-5.
- Matthews, D., & Schrum, L. (2003). *High-speed Internet use and academic gratifications in the college residence. The Internet and Higher Education*, 6, 125-144.
- Moneta, L. (1997). *The integration of technology with the management of student services*. New Directions for Student Services, *1997*(78), 5-16.
- Moneta, L. (2005). *Technology and student affairs: Redux*. New Directions For Student Services, 112, 3-14.

- Morahan-Martin, J., & Schumacher, P. (2000). *Incidence and correlates of pathological Internet use among college students*. Applied Psychology, 16(1), 13-29.
- Murrell, S. P., Denzine, G., & Murrell, P. H. (1998). *Community college residence halls: A hidden treasure*. Community College Journal of Research and Practice, 22(7), 663-674.
- Pascarella, E., Bohr, L., Nora, A., Zusman, B., Inman, P., & Desler, M. (1993). Cognitive impacts of living on campus versus commuting to college. *Journal of College Student Development*, 34(3), 216-220.
- Pascarella, E. T., & Terenzini, P. T. (1991). How college affects students: Findings and insights from twenty years of research. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.

Personal Communication (2018).

- Pike, G. R. (1999). The effects of residential learning communities and traditional residential living arrangements on educational gains during the first year of college. Journal of College Student Development, 40(3), 269-284.
- Pike, G. R., & Kuh, G. D. (2005). *First- and second-generation college students: A comparison of their engagement and intellectual development*. The Journal of Higher Education, 76(3), 276-300.
- Quan-Haase, A. (2008). Instant Messaging on Campus: Use and Integration in University Students' Everyday Communication. Information Society, 24(2), 105-115.
- Ratliff, A. F. (2011). Are They Listening? Social Media on Campuses of Higher Education. Journal of the Australian & New Zealand Student Services Association, 38, 65-69.
- Reid, K., Reynolds, R., & Perkins-Auman, P. (2014). *College First-Year Seminars: What are we doing, what should we be doing?*. Journal of College Student Retention, 16(1), 73-93.
- Residence Strategic Plan. (2014). Ancillary Services, Residence Services. The University of Alberta.
- Ruggiero, T. (2000). Uses and Gratifications Theory in the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. Mass Communication & Society, 3(1), 3-37.
- Schroeder, C., & Mable, P. (1994). *Realizing the Educational Potential of Residence Halls*. Jossey-Bass Higher and Adult Education Series.
- Skinner, E. (2009). Using Community Development Theory to Improve Student Engagement in Online Discussion: A Case Study. Research in Learning Technology, 17(2), 89-100.

Skyfactor. Residence Satisfaction Survey. University of Alberta (2017).

- Thomas, S. (2000). *Ties That Bind, A Social Network Approach to Understanding Student Integration and Persistence*. The Journal of Higher Education, 71(5), 591-615.
- Tinto, V. (1993). Building community. Liberal Education, 79(4), 16-21.
- Vaterlaus, J.M. (2017). Yik Yak: An Exploratory Study of College Student Uses and Gratifications. Bulletin of Science, Technology, and Society.
- Wankel, L., & Blessinger, P. (2013). *Increasing student engagement and retention using mobile applications: smartphones, Skype and texting technologies.* Bingley, U.K.: Emerald.
- Wankel, L. A., & Wankel, C. (2011). *Higher education administration with social media*. Bingley, UK: Emerald.
- Wankel, L. A., & Wankel, C. (2011). Social media for social research: Applications for higher education communications. Cutting Edge Technologies in Higher Education. Bingley, UK: Emerald.
- Whiting, A., & Williams, D. (2013). *Why people use social media: A uses and gratifications approach*. Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 16(4), 362-369.
- Wilcox, P., Winn, S., & Fyvie-Gauld, M. (2005). 'It was nothing to do with the university, it was just the people': the role of social support in the first-year experience of higher education, Studies in Higher Education, 30(6), 707-722.
- Wimmer, R., & Dominick, J. (2006). *Mass Media Research: An Introduction*. Thomson, Wadsworth

# Appendix A

## Participant Consent Form

### **INFORMATION LETTER and CONSENT FORM**

Study Title: Living on Campus & Building Community through Social Media

Research Investigator:	Academic Supervisor:
Brittany Hurlburt	Dr. Rob McMahon
1-050 Lister Centre	2-365 Enterprise Square
University of Alberta	University of Alberta
Edmonton, AB, T6G 2H6	Edmonton, AB, T5J 4P6
bhurlbur@ualberta.ca	rdmcmaho@ualberta.ca

780.686.9700

780.248.1110

#### Background

You are being asked to participate in this study because you are an upper-year undergraduate living on campus at the University of Alberta. The results of this study will be used to support my capstone for completion of a Masters of Arts in Communication and Technology at the University of Alberta. Findings will be shared with Ancillary Services and may be submitted for publication.

#### Purpose

The purpose of my research is to understand whether the use of Information Communication Technologies (ICTs)—social media in particular—helps upper-year undergraduate students living on campus at the University of Alberta build community. Research on this topic focuses largely on "student outcomes." These outcomes are categorized as things like: higher GPAs, greater access to resources, higher rates of graduation, and the ability to build community and stronger personal networks. However, most of this research focuses on first-year students—there is a knowledge gap with regards to upper-level undergraduates. Through this research, I hope to learn more about how ICTs play a role in the outcome of building community for students living on campus, in relation to the population of upper-year undergraduate students.

## Study Procedures

Students must be proficient in English and have been recruited to participate in the research via the Residence Services community newsletter, which was distributed to their UAlberta email account. Participants were required to fill out a short pre-interview questionnaire about their ICT use on campus, and were then scheduled for an in-person interview. Participants selected will receive a \$10 gift card after completing the in-person interview. The researcher is restricting the interviews to eight (8) participants.

Please initial the boxes below:

- Data from the pre-interview questionnaire that was distributed via email will be used for screening and for the analysis portion of the study.
- Interviews will take approximately 30-45 minutes, depending on the participants answers, and will be conducted on North Campus at the University of Alberta.

- The interviews will be audio-recorded and transcribed. The Primary Investigator will also take notes from observations during the interview.
- Data from the interviews (audio-recordings, transcribed documents) will be retained by the Primary Investigator, will not be accessible by the public, and will be stored in a locked office, protected by encrypted computer passwords.

## Benefits

The results of this research are entirely dependent on the participation of upper-year undergraduates living in residence at the University of Alberta. The intent is that the results will benefit current and incoming residents living on this campus because they will provide information for administration to help facilitate community building through information communication technologies. Students who participate will receive a \$10 gift card as a "thank-you" for participating in this important work; however, there may be no other direct benefits. The results of the research will provide value to the existing research in this area of study, especially given that there are few studies that focus on the population of upper-year undergraduates, are based in Canadian institutions, and that focus on technology in relation to community building as a result of living on campus.

Student Affairs professionals will benefit from the results of the study by learning more about the specific interests and needs of different types of students living on campus. This supports the delivery of effective programming, facilitates positive experiences, and helps these professionals learn more about the students that choose to live on campus. The study will contribute to the research conducted in this area, providing insights into students' use of ICTs while living on campus, and whether the use of those ICTs helps them to build community and foster engagement. The study will both add to the research findings in this area, and contribute to efforts of the University of Alberta to provide a positive on campus living experience for residents.

## Voluntary Participation

You are under no obligation to participate in this study, nor are you obliged to answer any specific questions even if participating in the study. You have the right to withdraw from the interview and choose not to participate. You are free to withdraw from the research study at any time without any adverse consequences, and you have the right to opt-out without penalty. You may request to withdraw any data collected for this study within 2 weeks of your interview, by contacting the researcher. If you choose to withdraw during the interview, you may do so verbally at any time. This will not affect your ability to receive the incentive. There are no known risks or personal benefits from participation in this study.

# Confidentiality & Anonymity

All information collected will be coded to protect the participant's privacy, anonymity, and confidentiality. Before releasing information to the University of Alberta for any reason, all identifying indicators (names, student ID numbers) will be removed. The data collected will be kept in a secure place for a minimum of 5 years following the completion of the research project, and when appropriate, will be destroyed in a way that ensures privacy and confidentiality.

## Further Information

If you have any further questions regarding this study, please do not hesitate to contact:

• Brittany Hurlburt, Primary Investigator at <u>bhurlbur@ualberta.ca</u> or 780.686.9700

• The plan for this study has been reviewed by a Research Ethics Board at the University of Alberta. If you have questions about your rights or how research should be conducted, you can call (780) 492-2615. This office is independent of the researchers.

## **Consent Statement**

I have read this form and the research study has been explained to me. I have been given the opportunity to ask questions and my questions have been answered. If I have additional questions, I have been told whom to contact. I agree to participate in the research study described above and will receive a copy of this consent form, and I will receive a copy of this consent form after I sign it.

Participant's Name (printed) and Signature

Date

Person Obtaining Consent Name (printed) and Signature

Date

# Appendix B

# Information Sharing Agreement

# This Agreement made this 25 day of April, 2018 For the AGREEMENT OF INFORMATION EXCHANGE BETWEEN Brittany Hurlburt, "Primary Investigator" And Ancillary Services, "Residence Services"

Information collected and maintained by Ancillary Services (via Residence Operations), may be shared with Brittany Hurlburt in relation to research being conducted in fulfillment of a Masters of Arts in Communication and Technology at the University of Alberta.

This information may be shared with Brittany Hurlburt for the purpose of providing background for her study, regarding student satisfaction levels in relation to their living experience on campus at the University of Alberta. Ancillary Services retains the right to request information collected by Brittany Hurlburt for a period of up to 1 year. The data will be kept for 5 years as per University of Alberta ethics policies.

Ancillary Services will provide the Brittany Hurlburt with a data file containing the following data elements:

- Student.First Name
- Student.Last Name
- Student.ID Number (EMPLID)
- Facility.Full Name
- Condensed Data Reports, Skyfactor Mapworks (formerly Educational Benchmarking Inc.) from 2015-2018

The information will be provided by electronic file to Brittany Hurlburt. The data file will contain information on students who have lived in residence starting the fall 2015 to present (spring 2018). Brittany Hurlburt will only use the most recent records provided by Ancillary Services.

During the active use of the information, the file will be retained in a secure location whereby only authorized personnel will have access. The data will be protected by encrypted passwords and stored in a locked office.

Ancillary Services collects personal information under the authorities of the Universities Act, (in accordance with the provisions of the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act) and other legislative authority. The collection, use and sharing of this information is in compliance with Sections 33c, 34(1)(n), 34(2), 35, 38, 39(1)(a), 40(1)(I) and 40(1)(x) of the Freedom of information and Protection of Privacy Act.

Each party agrees to maintain their responsibilities in this Agreement. Each of the parties will give to the other party reasonable notice of any change in policy, regulations or statutes relating to their respective programs or services that is likely to affect this Agreement.

Principal Investigator

**Ancillary Services** 

Brittany Hurlburt	Janice Johnson
Principal Investigator, MACT	Assistant Dean of Students, Residence
Faculty of Extension, University of Alberta	Ancillary Services, University of Alberta

Pre-Interview Questionnaire

7/18/2018

Building Community through Social Media

# **Building Community through Social Media**

This form should take less than 5 minutes to complete! You are filling out this form because you are interested in being interviewed regarding your use of information communication technologies (ICTs) as an upper-year undergrad and resident of East Campus. This interview is part of a research study for a Master of Arts in Communication & Technology at UAlberta. By participating in the study you will receive a \$10 Starbucks gift-card as a thank you.

Your email address (bhurlbur@ualberta.ca) will be recorded when you submit this form. Not bhurlbur? <u>Sign out</u> \* Required

1. What year of study are you in? (you must be an upper-year undergrad) \* Mark only one oval.

$\bigcirc$	Second year
$\bigcirc$	Third year
$\bigcirc$	Other:

 What East Campus Residence do you live in? \* Mark only one oval.

	•
$\bigcirc$	HUB Mall
$\bigcirc$	Tamarack House
$\bigcirc$	Pinecrest House
$\bigcirc$	Linden House
$\bigcirc$	Alder House
$\bigcirc$	International House
$\bigcirc$	Aspen House
$\bigcirc$	Maple House
$\bigcirc$	Peter Lougheed Hall
$\bigcirc$	Newton Place

3. How long have you lived on campus?\*

Mark only one oval.

) This	s acad	lemic	term	only
--------	--------	-------	------	------

Multiple terms in the same residence

Multiple terms in more than one residence

1/2

7/18/2018	Building Community through Social Media
	4. What ICTs (information communication technologies) do you use? (select all that apply) $^{*}$
	Check all that apply.
	Social media (Facebook, Chillabit, Twitter, Snapchat)
	Mobile Applications (Ualberta app, Residence Account)
	Internet (for Academics, for leisure/streaming)
	Video Gaming (Xbox, Playstation, online gaming, etc.)
	Social Websites (message boards (Reddit), chatrooms, blogs, eClass, etc)
	Other:
	<ul> <li>5. Are you available for a short interview? (this is how you receive your \$10 gift-card) * Mark only one oval.</li> <li>Yes</li> <li>No</li> </ul>
	6. Are you proficient in English? *
	Mark only one oval.
	Yes
	No

Powered by

# Appendix D

## **Interview Questions**



**RESEARCH DESIGN** Interview Questions

#### **Interview Questions**

I will conduct semi-structured interviews, asking participants about their current usage of Information Communication Technologies (ICTs), specifically their use of social media as a means/tool to build community. Their responses may guide the questions, based on their individual experiences.

The questions are planned as follows:

Ask participant general discussion regarding the residence building they live in, basic questions about roommates, neighbours, and community in general, in their experience.

# Ask participant about the ICTs (social media?) they use, obtained from the pre-interview questionnaire.

1. Is building community difficult in the residence building that you live in?

• Why or why not?

2. What helps you connect with your peers in residence?

• What about on campus?

3. Do you think the use of social media helps people build community in residence/on campus?

Why or why not?

4. Which SM platforms help you connect with your peers in residence/on campus?

• Who else do they help you connect with?

5. Do you think it's possible to form strong community bonds through applications and social media platforms?

- 6. Which SM platforms do you prefer to use?
  - Why?
  - Which could you do without?
- 7. Do you think technology can facilitate community generally while living in residence?
  - Why or why not?
- 8. Do you have any other thoughts or comments?

# Appendix E

# Coding Materials

	and my2	2		Thing on campus
kooiNo/	focurding amagingerrence technologies med distractions pharm law awkward upper year indergrad	E	student loader RAT Inte on campus RA building community	nternational student new nere help me out /help connect HUB help ound comm
Community centre Facebook group // connect Facebook // residence services	Campus / /iving on campus residence Clase to campus . Connect with people . building	er	socialize community apartment comfortube roominates email	convenient to hulpf noominates close friends - friends community activities events
shident inion building community " connection peers	pesidence assistant (PA) // community building/community bon walk-up / trunhouse guret /silence	1	consect with pegdet for ends grup of forends interactions	difficult building community of cross paths in usual design of building pictures
communicate Instagram apps stories	study /studying / fous on noise crossing paths classmates make friends	W P.T	tace to face the common space (common and beers echnology)	meet new people minal
right now / real-time Visuals Campus Ming on campus	in person Communication technologres Facebook pages Luents	S F Q	acebook / FB Messenper	campus on-campus similanty prest sm composed pages
technolay y	activities taces /face to face for face to face	0 1 0	an help/help mmunity page nstagram napchatik	Chillabit easil technology librar Instagram tool
	social medici starting p power of sm relationship helped m- crest fexting	7 ph	isco Woto sharing	What App peer Snapchat point approximances initi

	TALLY		TALLY	1	TALLY		TALLY		TALLY		TALLY		TALLY		TALLY		TALLY		TALLY	TOTALS
apartment	11	wak-up	1	townhouse	1				100				-				1			1
HUB	5	HCA	1	10000000																
facebook	30	facebook group	24	facebook messenger	16	facebook pages	12													10000
feel more connected	1	connection	2	connect with people	20	connect	18	common ground	2	staying connected	4	less connected	3	already formed connections	4	stronger connections				
residence services	1	residence assistant	10	residence	3	senior residence assistant		resident	6				-				-			
student union	1	student leader	6		-		-		-											
building community	23	community bonds	4	stronger bond	6	community	30	community centre	3	strong community		starting community	6	less community	3	needs of community		sense of community		
instagram	19		-		100			Louis and Louis a	-			Contraction of Contra			-		-			
1005	6				-		-		-		-		-		-		-		-	
stories	4				-								-				-		-	
real time	1.	right now	1	active	1		-		-				-				-		-	
	1.		6	videos	1				-				-				-			
visualis		pictures	13	east campus		on campus		close to campus									-		_	
campus		living on campus	13	east campus		on campus	5	close to campus	2											
access	1		-		-		-	-	-		-		-		-	-	-		_	
onine	5				-		-	-	-								-	-		
technology		technologies	5		-				-		_		-				-			1
distractions	1	pay attention	2		-				-											
amazing experience	1			-																
antward	6																			
upper-year		mature	11	serious	6															3
building	4	my building	5	common space		design of building		lounges	4	building style		truiting layout	12							
quiet	2	silence	1	noise	1															
study	10	studying	4	focus on studies		studious														3
crossing paths	12					111111													_	1
make triends	5	relationship	1	social group		not close triends	1	socialize	2	peers	5	mutual thends							1	
in-person		familiar faces	5	face to face	21	meet people	4	one on one		hang out	1	most them		get to know people	7	find people				7
communication tech	1									1000										
events	14	activities	7	programs		posters	7													
social media	36	power of social media	1	Programs.		Provide a							-				-			
											-									
starting point	2	interact	4	point of contact	3	tring people together			-								-			
texting	11		-		-		-	-	-				-		-					
GPA	1	and the second second	-	and the second se				deriver and									-		_	
difficult to meet people	4	challenging	9	difficult	11	difficult to connect	11	boundaries	2	distance	5									
roommates	15	neighbor	2	aquantainces	3															2
effort	6	secluded	_	telt ionely	2	takes time	1				_						-			
independent	2	-		-	-						_		-				-			
library	4																			
academic focused	1											-								
information	1	informed	7																	
email	4	has to be email	2																	
message		messaging	2																	1
tool			1																	
helps		facilitating	14	heiphu	1	helps me	5	comfortable	4	can help		help connect		help build community	15	helps you		benefit	10	
encouraging	4	reach out	2	commit	2	initiale	3													
transfer student	1 1	international student	3														1			
stairwells	4	units	1		-			-	-								-			
What's App	5		1																	
easier	1																			
observe	11	distance	2	conversation	6	see what's happening		what's going on	5											
	11	o marce		Contraction (Contraction)		and more a cappened		and a going on								-				
shap chat									-				-		-	-	-		-	
wither .	4	-	-		-												-		-	
proup chat		-	-		-	-			-			-	-			-			-	
community page	1										-	-					-			
4500	1																			
convenient	3																			
privacy	3																			
similarity	3																			
chillabit	5	chilter	2																	
		answer questions	1																	
engage																				